private or'government
survey operation.



The Business of Professional Surveying
Agenda

8:00-8:30 COFFEE & REGISTRATION

8:30-8.45 INTRQDUCTION & CASE STUDY _
Introducing the fictional firm of Brad Brooks Surveying Ltd

8:45-9:45  WHAT IS BUSINESS ALL ABOUT? ,
An introduction to marketing principies and strategies;
Learn what goes into a good bid for an RFP

9:45-10:00 Break
10:00-11:00 AGCOUNTING FOR PROFITS

Find out how to take the fear out of finance
and figure out the right questions to ask

11:00-ncon  BUSINESS & THE LAW

What goes into a surveyor's business agreement?
Here's a sample contract! Learn how to
collect more of your Accounts Receivable.

hoon-1:00 Lunch

1:.00-1:20  RE-ENGINEERING & MANAGING CHANGE
Once you've decided on a strategy, how can you
be sufe to get the results you expected?

1:20-1:40  QUALITY GONTROL/QUALITY ASSURANGE

We ali expect to purchase quality. How can we be
sure we can provide it?

1:40-2:00  MANAGING YOUR PROJECTS

How do you keep costs under control AND
get them completed on time?

2:00-3:00 |ABOUR LAW/WRONGFUL DISMISSAL

Learn about non-survey legisiation
that can affect you organization.

3:00-3:15 Break
3:15-4:15  INSURANCE

Why does Brad Brooks need professional liability
insurance and what does it cover?

4:15-4:30  WRAP-UP/QUESTIONS?

The Presenters

Graham Bowden, O.L.S.

Graham received his commission in 1977 and currently runs

Marshall Macklin Monaghan's Mississauga office. He teaches
Erindale's Professional Affairs course for the Survey Science program.

{(ohn Breese, Kevin Goranson, Dan Mullen, Craig Walker
evin is the broker for the Association's professional fability insurance
program at Cosburn, Grifiiths & Brandham. John, Dan & Craig are at
F.C. Maltman's - the adjuster for the liability insurance program. They
promise all-new material.

Brian Munday, B.Comm., M.B.A.

Brian has a number of years experience with small and large financial
organizations before joining the Association. in 1992, he earned his
Master of Business Administration, specializing in Change and {_eadership.

J. Paul Wearing, B.A., M.P.A., LL.B.
Paul is a principal of the Toronto law firm of Borden Wearing. His area
of expertise is labour and employment law and environmental law.
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The materials and examples presented herein are for iflustrative purposes during the
Business of Professional Surveying workshop only.

It is not intended to take the place of individual legal, financial or other professional
advice.

Neither the Association of Ontario Land Surveyors nor the individual presenters will
assume any liability related to the use of the material contained herein.



The Case of Brad Brooks Surveying

Brad Brooks was sitting in his office on a cold Friday afternoon in September. He had just
completed his last contract for survey work and there seemed like there were no
prospects for future jobs. Brad reflected on how he got to this point.

Brad Brooks graduated from Erindale College's Survey Science program in 1984. He
articled to a well-known survey firm in Northern Ontario where he gained tremendous
experience throughout the hectic, busy days of the mid-80's. Brad turned down the
opportunity to buy the survey firm in Northern Ontario. Instead, he decided to return to
the Metro Toronto area where his wife wanted the family to return to live. He got his own
Certificate of Authorization in 1989 and set up his own small office.

For the first two years, his business seemed to go reasonably well. Brad was pleased to
have his own business. He wanted to prove he could build his own company from
scratch, Brad was surprised, however, at the cost of setting up his own business. There
were plenty of expenses that he had not counted on. He was also disappointed that we
was not able to spend more time in the field actually doing the survey work. In the early
days, he spent most of his time trying to keep track of the progress of various jobs and
dealing with unhappy clients who couldn't get their surveys fast enough. Still, there
seemed to be enough money available for him to earn a reasonable living. The bank even
phoned him to ask if he wanted a loan.

During the middle of 1990, Brad Brooks began to notice that the number of jobs he was
getting seemed to drop off. Brad figured he could use this time to learn about the latest
developments in Condominium surveys. He had hoped his firm could specialize in Condo
surveys. Until then, he had just put up his shingle and he won ali sorts of jobs. But now,
the number of jobs just wasn't what it used to be. After attending one of his Regional
Group meetings, he realized other surveyors were facing similar desperate times.

(Please ensure all participants from your organization have read the opening case
study prior to the workshop.)



WHAT BUSINESS ARE WE IN ?

With our expanded profession and all our hightech systems what business are we in?

We are in the business of

Charles Darwin reasoned the theory of evolution as "survival of the fittest". If Charles
Darwin had been a 90's executive he probably would have postulated the theory of
corporate evolution as " He who hesitates is lunch ".
In today's business world the old cliches are still true.

If you aren't part of the solution you are part of the problem.

Get involved or get out of the way.

Keep moving. Standing still is really moving backwards.

So how can you make your staff and therefore your company a moving involved solution?
Perhaps the first step is to find out how your company appears to others. What image do

you convey ? How do your clients perceive you. ?




MARKETING

What is the difference between marketing and selling ?

Selling :

Marketing :

Why do we do it?

OPPORTUNITY

PROFIT RISK

These interdependent effects are the corners of the marketing triangle.



If marketing is what we do,

And marketing is convincing people to select you...

How do we differentiate ourselves from other OLS firms? Choose me because,

What makes for successful marketing ?

1.

2.

We need to recognize that effective marketing requires marketing to a target audience.

In the simplest sense there are only 2 target groups. Who are your target markets ?




Why do we need to market to both target groups ?

If you have 2 target groups then it follows that each requires an unique marketing style.

Client Group

Marketing Style

Each marketing style has unique strategies.

Style

Strategy




Three words the marketer lives by:

What marketing tools do you use ?




MARKET ANALYSIES

There is an old adage " You have to know who you are before you can decide what you
want to be." Applied to marketing you need to analyze what you do and who you do it for
before you start to market. Why ? Because it is a poor marketing plan that markets a low
profit, high risk service to a client who is slow to pay or markets a service that no one
in your area needs. Sound obvious? Of course, these are extreme cases. However it is
important to establish a client/service profile. It is the cornerstone of your overall

business plan and the benchmark against which we measure improvement.

Client Type Survey Service

% of our business % of our business

So how are we going to decide which clients to market to?

How do we decide which services to market?



If we combine the results of the analyses we realize the choices are many and

sometimes difficult to distinguish. The easiest way to visualize your choices is by the,

MARKETING PYRAMID



THE TEN COMMANDMENTS OF
GOOD BUSINESS

The client is the most important person in any business.

The client is not dependent on us, we are dependent on them.

Clients are not an interruption of our work,
they are the purpose of it.

Clients do us a favour when they call,
we are not doing them a favour by serving them.

A client is part of our business, not an outsider.

.



THE TEN COMMANDMENTS OF
GOOD BUSINESS wontinved

Clients are not a cold statistic,
they are flesh-and-blood human beings with feelings and emotions

(like our own).

A client is not someone to argue or match wits with.

A client is a person who brings us wants,
it is our job to fill those wants.

A client is deserving of the most courteous and
attentive treatment we can give.

A client is the life-blood of this and every other business.

§@
e



BASIS of a MARKETING PLAN

The Business Mission

Form 1

Date:

w

A. Industry Sector

1. Most narrow 1.

2. Next level

3. Most broad

4. Others based on technology

A A

B. My business satisfies customers’ needs for:

N s L N

M

Page 1of 2

10



The Business
Form 1

Mission (cont’d)

C. The major strengths my business has to offer are:

< Al B

D. In summary, the mission for my business is to:

Page20f2
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The Customer Research

Form 3

Date:
Information Needed Potential Sources Disposition '
A, 1
2.
3.
B. 1
2.
3.
C. 1
2.
3.
D. 1
2..
3.
E. 1
2.
3.
F. 1
3.
et —————



The Customer

Customer Needs
Form 5 .
Opportunities
Date:
Key Customer Groups Existing Needs Met | Related Needs Action
)
A
B.
C.

14



The Customer Trading Area

Form 7
Profile
Date:
: . Actual Actual Actual Projected
Information Item 19 19 19 19

1. Population

2. Male/Female

3. Households

4. Homes Built

5. Building Permits

6. Average Family
Income (79___cersas/

7. Family Expenditures

8. Gross Expenditures

Other Items:

9
10
11
12

13

15



The Competition Competitors

Form 9

Date:

Pricing

Business Name Location "y mA | ItemB | ItemC

s~ N

«

® o N o

11.
12.
13.
14.
15.

16



The Competition
Form 10

Date:

Criterion

My
Business

Competitive
Analysis

Competitor
1

Competitor
2

Competitor
3

Pricing
Signage
Vehicles
Range of skills
Working hours

Shopping
convenience

Staff
Trading area

Leadtime to schedule
work

Advertising

Literature

Legend

B = Best
G = Good
F = Fair
P = Poor




Image Analysis

Form 14
Date:
Evaluation Comments
Mechanism/Medium g - ge?d)good) (Consistency, Need for
= Go
(3 = Poor) Change)
Advertising

Business Cards

Direct Mail

Employees

Exhibits

Letterhead

Literature

Packaging

Personal Selling

Publicity

Public Relations

Sales Promotion

Signage

Store Front

Telephone Listing

Vehicles

Word of Mouth
Other

18



Advertising and Promotion -
i Promotion
Plan

Date:

Kinds of Promotion - Description Cost Timing




Advertising and Promotion AdV erﬁ S i n g

Form 22
Plan
Date:
Purpose/Description Target .
of Advertisement Audience Media Cost

1

2

3

4

5
e —

20



Public Relations Media Ijst

and Publicity
Form 23
Date:
Medium Contacts Telephone # |Comments re: Audience
1.
A 2.
1.
B.
2.
. 1.
C.
2.
1.
D.
2.
1.
E.
2.
1.
2.



Public Relations
and Publicity
Form 24

Date:

Occasion or Event

Plan

Media Choices

Cost?

Timing




HOW DO YOU GET WORK ?

3 primary methods:

What % of your business is acquired by each method ?

Why do we need to know this? Because we must focus our marketing initiatives in the
areas with the highest probability of success. For instance, after 3 hours of marketing
effort would you rather be added to a client's list of qualified bidders or would you rather

be appointed the client's geomatics consultant?

Prioritize Your Efforts

23



DEPARTMENT OF THE CITY CLERK
LOBBYIST DISCLOSURE FORM

INSTRUCTIONS Ne 0811

(These Instructions are for relerence only. For full requirements refer to By-law 976-88, as amended.)

Effective July 1, 1990, Toronto City Council will require the disclosurs of lobbying actwvities with respect to certain types of
City of Teronto applications.
COMPLETING THE DISCLOSURE FORM WHEN THERE IS - NO - LOBBYING

U, In taapeci to any of the applicallon lypes named befow, you have not lobbled, and will not be lobbying In tha future
complete parts 1 lo 3, and 7 of the disciosure form,

COMPLETING THE DISCI.OSURE FORM WHEN THERE IS - OR WILL BE - LOBBYING

If, in respect to any of the application typas named below, you have lobbied of plan to lobby - you must fully complete, and
update, parts 1 to 7 of the disclosure form.

Disclosure forms Indicating fobbylng activity must be received within TWO working days prior to the preparation of
committee agendas and/or the council order paper. To facilitate the processing of your application - please record
your Disclosure iD No(s), and have your copy of the forrn handy when contacting City Hall about your application,

APPLICATIONS REQUIRING LOBBYIST DISCLOSURE

The following types of applications require the completion of a Lobbyist Disciosure Form. To complete Part 2 of the form,
you will naed to indicate the corresponding application code.

Code  Application Type Code Application Type

01- Zoning By-law Amendment 10 Grant (over $ 15,000)

02- Official Plan Amendment 11 Loan {over $ 15,000)

03- Site Plan Approval 12 Purchase of Real Property from City
04- Holding Symbol Removal 13- Leasing of Real Property from City
05- Temporary Use By-law 14 Vending Location

06- Part Lot Control 15 Sale of Rea! Property to City

07- Cash Payment in Lieu of Parking 16 Lease of Real Property to City

08 RHPA Approval 17 Lottery Licence

09 Boulevard Cale 18 Sale of Consulting Services to City

DISCLOSURE OF LOBBYING OF OFFICIALS

The disclosure of lobbying of ofiicials {other than Council Members or their staff) requires the naming of depariments. To
complete Pant 6 of the form you will need to indicate the corresponding deparment number.

No. Department No. Department
02 Audit 33 City Propeny
03 City Clerk's 34 Public Health
05 Finance 35 Fire
06 Legal . 36 Parks & Recreation
039 Purchasing & Supply 38 Housing
10 Managsment Services 39 Public Works
1 Labour Relations 71 Planning & Development
31 Buildings & Inspections
FAILURE TO COMPLY

By-law No. 976-88, as amended, slates:

The City Clerk shall not place an application before Council or a Committee thereof for consideration, and
Councit or a Committee shall not consider an Application unless a Lobbyist Disclosure Form, current to
the date of the preparation of the Order Paper or Agenda, as the case may be, has been filed with the
City Clerk for such application.

PLEASE NOTE
“Lobuyisi” moana (i) a person, other than an employee of the applicant, paid lo make representation on behalf of

an applicant with respect (0 an application and attemipling o Intluence & detisivn ui Soundd
or a Committee theraol with respect lo thal application;
or
(i} a person, being an employee of the applicant, a significani part qf whose duties are to make
representations on behall of an appticant with respect to an application and attempting 10
influence a decision of Council or a Committee thereo! with respect lc that application. 24



PRICE COMPETITION:

BETTER KNOWN AS BIDDING

What is our Association's position on bidding ?

The Association does not prohibit nor discourage competitive bidding. The Association
will not initiate disciplinary action against any member for engaging in any competitive
bidding activities.

What are the Pros and Cons of bidding ?

PROS CONS

25



REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

The same game as bidding but by a more genteel name is the RFQ or RFP.
How do you respond to a Request for Proposal?
What information does the client want? Need?
Which is the most important information?
What weight will the client apply to each piece of information?

How much documentation is required to support your claims ?
You need to know the answers before you start your reply.

Your ability to persuade the client to award the work to you depends on 3 key items.

1.

2.

3.

Your reply to the RFP must address every key point in the client's document. Too often
however the RFP is vague, contradictory or incomplete. Your proposal reply must answer
the explicit and implicit questions. If you follow these guidelines you should cover most

eventualities.

26



A successful proposal minimizes the gap between your SPECIFICATIONS and the client's

EXPECTATIONS.

27



FEES

While we are on the topic of proposals and bidding, and as fees are often the first and
last item the client looks at, we would be remiss to not mention pricing. Now we can't

discuss actual prices but | want to ask the question;

What are the 3 primary fee arrangements ?

1.

2.

3.

We won't mention the 4th fee arrangement which is the loss leader.

If you don't put a value on your time then your client certainly won't.
Since we agree your expertise and therefore your time is valuable.

What is your time worth ?

Do you charge for OLS time ?

Do you charge different rates for your time when you work at different tasks?

28



APPENDIX "A"
SURVEYING
SCOPE OF WORK

GENER IFICATIQONS:

The Contractor herein agrees to supply all materiats, labour, tools and equipment to complete
the survey services as follows:

Stake Qut
1. Re-stake and/or stake out lot corners along stregt lines necessary for layouts of houses.

"Key” bars (standard iron bars) assumed to be in place. The builder should satisfy
himself in confirming same with the developer ahead of time.

2. Calculation of location of houses to comply with the Zoning By-Laws for each
municipality.

3. Stake out houses for excavation of basement foundations.

4, Provide one (1) grade stake with cut to underside of footing for each house, and provide
the site supervisor with a2 written grade cut sheet for each house.

5. Provide the site supervisor with a temporary bench mark in the proximity of the houses

. being constructed.

6. Upon excavation,check grade as excavated and report any discrepancy to the supervisor.
Stake out footings with metal corner pins.

7. After construction of foundation walls and backfilling operations, carry out Final

: (Mortgage) Survey, including planting of monuments in accordance with the new

standards and applicable regulations under the survey Act and Land Titles Act and verify
top of wall elevations by letter for each unit.

8. Search each lot in the Land Registry Office re if any easements, etc.

9. Prepare a plan showing the building location. provide seven (7) prints of the plan per
house.

Grading

i. Upon the completion of the construction of houses, and prior to sodding, re-establish lot

corners and provision of grades with cut and fill for proper grading control. this is for
stake out of rear lot corners, centre high points and front lot corners.

29



APPENDIX "B"
SURVEYING
CONTRACT PRI

All applicable taxes are included, except G.S.T.

All prices are guaranteed until:

Model Type Stake-Out Grading
& Elevation Price Prige

Authorized Signature

30



APPENDIX “C*

UNIT PRICES

UNIT PRICES:

All unit prices include supply and installation of all material, labour, provincial sales tax,
inspection, markups, incidentals, delivery charges, and any and all other charges pertaining to
the work, including warranty. The same amount will be applicable as a credit should the work
not be completed.

ield Work
@) Three-man crew S /hr.
(b) Two-man cres 3 fhr.
(¢©)  Reset comer lot bars $ /lot
Office Work
@) Ontario Land Surveyor 3 /hr.
(b) Calculations $ /hr.
(¢)  Drafting $ /hr.
Disbursements
(a) Mileage, etc. At Cost

EXTRA TO STANDARD

The Contractor is responsible to ensure that he is aware of all extras, changes and/or deletions
for each unit prior to commencing work, by consulting with the Site Superintendent an/or the
Head Office.

All extras to the standard contract price must be authorized by a Purchase Order.
All extras are to be billed separately from the standard contract price and are to be submitted

under a separate completion slip from the standard work, or the Contractor agrees to wait until
the unit’s closing date for payment of said extras.



INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS

PROJECT: Eagle Run

Mississauga, Ontario

OWNER: Woodpine Developments Inc.

The Georgian Construction Company Limited is acting as Construction Manager for Woodpine
Developments Inc. '

Please address all bids to Woodpine Developments Inc. c¢/o Georgian Construction Company
Limited on the Bid Form provided.

Include Provincial Sales Tax; exclude the Goods & Services Tax.

Lowest or any tender not necessarily accepted.

Tenders to be received no later than 2:00 p.m., June 3rd, 1994.

Bids are to be a lump-sum for the thirty-seven (37) units indicated on the Bid Form.
Provide a unit price for each model type indicated on the Bid Form.

Construction of the thirty-seven (37) units is to be complete prior to December 31st, 1994.

The successful bidder will be required to execute a contract on the Owner’s standard form of
agreement,



BID FORM Page 1 of 4

PROJECT: Eagle Run
Mississauga, Ontario

CONTRACTOR:

ADDRESS:

TELEPHONE : FACSIMILE:

SUBMISSION DATE:

BID SUBMITTED TO: Woodpine Developments Inc.
¢/o Georgian Construction Company Limited
160 Traders Bouievard East, Suite 200
Mississauga, Ontano
14Z 3K7

Attn: Mr. Ken Warkentin/Mrs. Fiona Spicer/Mr. Joe Laronga

Having carefully examined the:
6] Model Type Breakdown and Quantities herein;
(i)  Scope of Work on Appendix "A";

Having completed the:
@iii)  Unit Pricing on Appendix “B" and “"C";

Having included:

(iv) Addenda No. (fill in the number of Addenda, Revisions, etc. included);

And having visited and investigated the site and examined all conditions affecting the work, the
undersigned offers to furnish all Jabour, material, equipment, supervision, to accept all costs and
perform all duties and services required to undertake and complete in all respects

including all applicable freight, exchange, expenses, overhead, profit, customs duties, excise
taxes and Provincial Sales Tax excluding the Goods and Services Tax for the Stipulated Sum of

DOLLARS ($ )

33



BID FORM Page 2 of 4

Separate or Alternative Prices:

The undersigned agrees that this Bid is irrevocable and is valid and subject to acceptance for a
period of sixty (60) days from the date hereof and that if notified of award of Contract will:

@) execute 2 Contract on the Owner’s standard form of agreement;

(i1) fumnish a breakdown of the Contract price within 72 hours from the date of
notification which is mutually agreeable to the Contractor and the Owner for
progress billing purposes; and,

(iii)  deliver the Bonds, Letters of Credit, Insurance Certificates, W.C.B. Clearance
Certificates, as or if required, within 10 days of notification of award and prior
to commencing work on site.

The undersigned recognizes that it is the intent of the design drawings, specifications and other
associated documents to provide the general construction methods, materials and systems which
will enable this project to be constructed in accordance with current trade practice to produce
fully operable and complete buildings in all respects. Extras will not be considered uniess
authorized by written purchase order by the Owner.

The undersigned recognizes that any or all Bids may be rejected.

Yours very truly,

Contractor

(Seal)

Signature

Title

Date

34



BID FORM Page 3 of 4

LIST OF REFERENCES

Please complete the following form in its entirety and include it with your tender.

Company:

Years in Business:

Union (Yes/No): Local (if any):
References:
ompan Contact Person Telephone Name & Description of Projects
i.
2.
3.

The above references are to be builders, contractors, architects, engineers and/or suppliers.

35



I.

ANNEX ®F%
Pg 1 aof 2

FVALUATYON CRTTERIA

MANDATORY CRITERIA

Failure to satisfy any of the rollowing ¢riteria will render the
proposal non-rasponsive.

i.

STAFFING

a) The Proposcr muzt provide for the on-site mervices of a
Canada Lands Surveyor (CLS) having experience in carrying
out similar boundary survey projects.

b) The Proposer must provide the names and resunes (directly
related background, professional qualifications and work
experience) of all surveyors and technicians who would
work on the project.

c) An Education and Experience Certification for the
proposad persuvnnel must be provided (see Annex "E").

SURVEY INSTRUMENTS AND EQUIPMENT

The Proposer must jdentify: the type(s) of egquipment to be
used and what arrangements will be made for spare parts
andfor complete back-up units on site; and the procedures
for field maintenance, tests, calibration checks, etc. of
equipment during field operations, if necessary, so that the
specifications in Articles 3.1 and 3.2 of the Statement of
Work are met.

TRANSPORTATION

The Proposer must indicate the gquantities and types of
aircraft and/or means of ground transportation to be used in
the field. In addition, the Proposer must indicate
arrangements for the provision and maintenance of back-up
ajircraft within 72 hours and/or back-up ground transportation.

COMMUNICATION -

The Proposer must elakorate how communication from the field
directly to the Project Authority will be established and
maintained. -

REYERENCES

The Proposer must provide CONTACT NAMES AND PHONE NUMBERS of
refarancas for previons similar work for Energy, Wines k
Resources Canada and/or other clients.

36



Pg 2 of 2

TI. RATED CRITERIA

Propaosals will be evaluated for compliance with the Statement of
WOrk and compatibility with the foragoing mandatory reguiremaents,
in accordance with tha followinhg critaria.

1. APPROACH AND METHCDOLOCY (maximum 40 points)

)
b)
c)
a)
e}
£)

understanding of geographie location and climate.
proposed survey appreach and methodoloqy

proposed logistic approach.

forseen problems and methods of handling.

originality and innovation.

arrangements to minimize costs and also impact of doun
days.

2. PROJECT MANAGEMENT (maximum 35 points)
a) llalson.
b) methods to ensure maxinum utilization of local resources.
¢) guality control.
d) relevant experience and expertise of personnel.

overall organization of the project.

3. EXPERIENCE AND PAST PERFORMANCE (maximum 25 points)

a)
b}

c
<)

similar projects (large scale cadastral surveys).
magnitude of similar and related survey projects,
reference follow-up on proposer’s past performance
{including sub-contractors) on previous contracts for
Energy, Mines & Resources and/or for other clients.



Iin assessing Letters of Interests against the four above criteria, the Screening Board
will consider achievements and direct experience related to local particularities such as -
weather, local or traditional practices as well as codes and by-laws applicable to the

project location.

ﬁatings ‘
Weighted Ratings

Categories
APPLICANT I
AlBIC]|DIJE
1.
Achievements of Firm 3.5
Comparable Projects “
2.
Achievements of Firm 2.5
Other Projects
3. .
Experience of Key Personnel 3.0
Comparabie Projects \
4. ”
Experience of Key Personnel 10
Other Projects
{TOTAL WEIGHTED RATINGS 10 .

Figure 1 The above is the rating form used for the screening evaluation process. The

Screening_Board will assess Letters of Interest based on the merits of the

information contained in the applications. Rating values from 1 to 10 will be

multiplied by the weighting factor. The results are then totalled, for a
maximum possible score of 100. The highest score is then determined.
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BATTLING FOR BUCKS

o ﬁght pursestnngs at banks a small biz beef

inding financing to start or
expand a business can be
the biggest frustration a
small business can face.

A government report tabled
last week said banks have a
responsibility to serve the nearly
one million business-
es in Canada that
employ fewer than 50
people.

But no matter who
you talk to, besides
the banks them-
selves, the consensus
is that they are just
not getting the job
done.

‘The Commons com-

‘mittee,-which tabled*
the report entitled
*Taking Care of
Small Business,” held
several weeks of -
hearings last spring,
tripgered by complaints from
small business people across.
Canada that the banks were
making it too difficult for them to
get financing,

The committee said small busi-
ness operatxons “have experi-
enced increasing difficulty in
obtaining financing for start-up,
normal operations and expan-
sion,”

ust talk to almost any small
business and you'll realize’
the truth in that statement. |

" Take the case of three Weston
brothers who recently were
turned down: for a small business
loan.

Barry Poljanowskx and his two
brothers, Gary and Roy havea
growing landseapmg business.
“They need to Upgrade their truck
tocarry the' eqmpment they use
to service their growing number
of clients. So they went to the
bank to apply for a loan of $30,000
for a-ten-ton truck, The bank told
them they needed $25,000 before
they woild even look at their
application. .

They went to an accountant,
put together $15,000, completed

NO TRUCK wm: BAHI(S v« Barry, Rob and Gary Poljanowskl aro typlcat 6f many small buslness
paople' thelr grow[ng business Is stymled by banks uulnterested In loaning thewm money.

guarantees needed, but the bank

still wouldn't even look at them,
Brian Austin, president of -

Padgett Business Services, says

.| for-most pecple starting: their *
own business, traditional sources

of capital are just not. “allable.
" %Starting a small busiess

these days requires more imagi- -

nation in searchmg outand
securing money,” he said.
Brien Gray of the Canadian °
Federation of Independent
Business says there is serious
problems with access to financ-
ing. .
Arecent CF'IB survey siys .
13.8% of s;all businesses had

* [..their most recent loan requﬁt

rejected:. That's up from 8.1% in
1990, And firms with less than
five employees have their loan
_requests denied 17.1%, of the
time, the survey said.
ray said while lending has
improved marginally
because of the end of the
recession, *banks are still acting
asif weareinit,”

But Rob Pearce, senior vice-
president of personal and finan-
cial services at the Bank of
Montreal, said their bank is fully
committed to small businesses.

He said BeeMo got serious
about the small business market

in 1990 when they placed small to

Here are some options availa-
ble to smali businesses looking
for funds:

® The Smatl Business Loans
Act: For-profit businesses with
gross revenue bolow $5 million

under this program. Company
owners must provide seécurity in
the form of the assets purchased
with the loan a3 weil as a person-

to 25% of the’ amount of the
loan).
® New Ventures Program This

can apply for up to $250,000 |

a! guarantee (ranging from 10% -

Small Business Loans R Us

is an Ontaric govemment pro-
gram for loans up to $15,000. The

bormower must match the amount -

he wants to bprr_ow. L.
Yerture loans

® Federal Business Develop-
ment Bank: FBDB has a number
of options avaitable to entre-
proneurs, including regtitar term
londing miich like the.§BLA,

: Venture Loans for companles

with good growth potential, anda
brand new Working Capital for
Growth Program for loans up to

$100,000 for companies at least
two years old.
sOther sources of financing can
include: the tandlord for lease-
hotd Improvements, inventory
suppllars for retailers, leasing
from equipment suppfiers, subsi-
dy programs for employees from
employment centres and pro-
grams, parsonal savings and kove
money from spouses, parents,
grandparents and anyone else
who might believe in you and
your new business.’ )
- Teri Williams -

ey e mber |

w MY S HAR P e b b 0 BV oy e

Y resewpye

...| medium business lending as oue

of their top priorities,

Part of their program isa
smal) business lending rate -
which is 1% lower than the pnme
rate big business pays.

Pearce said since 1990 the Bank
of Montreal's loans of under
$500,000 to small firms have
grown by over50%.

“And since the same time, (all
banks') leans to smmall business
has shrunk,” he said. )

The Smal! Business Loans Act,
which was revised in April 1993 -
to provide greater access to
loans, makes up less than 15% of
the Bank of Montreal's small
business loans, Pearce said, -~

Under the SBLA, the govern-
ment and bank share any loan
losses.

Banks issue 80% of these loans .
which have quintupled since
April 1993,

In the first year of the program
{April 1993 — March 1934), 40,000
SBLA loans were issued involv-:"f
ing $2.5 million. The previous™~ «
year only $500,000 mloa.ns were }
given out. t

Therearea numbu- of gbvem;_{
ment programs out there aimed ¥
at helping small businesses, but 3-
until mainstream lenders get .
onside it is a continuing battle for" :
any entrepreneur. -

H Small business appears {

very Monday. vemnt
.ua..uunosso4»nmﬂ§-




The Case of Brad Brooks Surveying

In spite of a recent course on marketing, Brad continued to believe that
he was on the right track and that things would eventually improve on
their own.

However, on Friday afternoon, Jack Campion, the branch manager from
the Canadian Imperial Toronto Scotian Bank (CITS) called him to ask
him to come to the bank on Monday morning so that they could together
review his business finances.

Brad had been hoping to ask the bank to increase his loan. However, it
looked to him like he would be fortunate to keep the same line of credit
as he had now.

Although Brad had known the branch manager for many years, he had
heard through the grapevine that there was a new regional manager at
CITS who was bearing down hard on Campion to improve the quality
of Campion's accounts.

It was now Sunday night. Brad had put off reviewing his finances for
some time and spent most of the weekend nervous, restless, and
constantly wiping the sweat from his brow.

Brad thought about putting his banker off but decided it was finally time
to look at his financial statements himself.

How could things have changed so quickly? What happened to the "good
ole days?"

As Brad began to stare at the numbers, he thought, "What will Campion
ask me? What will the bank decide to do?"

Your Assienment
If you were the banker, what criteria would you use to
determine if Brooks' line of credit should be cut back or
extended? ‘
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You are not
an accountamnt

You make
decisions

Common
Excuses

The "busy"
excuse

DOING THE NUMBERS

The purpose of this section is NOT to teach you how to be
high-financiers, accountants or bookkeepers.

There are plenty of people who have gone to school for many
years and have a great deal of training and experience in
these areas and you should take advantage of their expertise.

As a business leader, you are not the one who should be
responsible for compiling your financial accounts. You are the
one who should ask questions about the information you
receive. You are the one who must appeal to the banker. You
are the one who must make decisions and take action based
upon the financial health of your organization.

it is for this reason, you must take an active interest in your
organization's finances.

And yet, many people don't. Why do so many people
(including some surveyors) refuse to "do the numbers"?

There are many excuses. They include...

1. I'm too busy.
You will always be able to find something else to do
besides reviewing your financial statements, like
cleaning out your sock drawer or washing the dog. The
only time when you will have plenty of time to review
the financial statements is the time when you are out
of business.

"The examples shown within this section are for illustrative purposes only. While effort has been made

to make the examples seem realistic, the figures are completely fictional and are notintended to show what
"ideal" revenues or expenses should be.
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The "Wrong
Answer" excuse

The "Neot My
Joh" excuse

The "What Dees
¢ Mean" excuse

The "I Don't
Understand"”
exeuse

The "I Don't
Want t¢ Know"
exense

2. I'll probably get the wrong answer.

There is no such thing. Sure, people calculate their
ratios a little different than their colleague but as long
as you are consistent it won't matter. As long as you
have the right question, don't worry about the wrong
answer.

3. Somebody else will do the number crunching for me.

Yes, somebody else probably should prepare the
financial statements for you. But only you can make
the decisions for your company.

4. | don't know what the number means.

There is no financial calculation that you can do that is
inherently "right". You have to put all the calculations

in context with one another and the general business

environment. For example, a profit of $500,000 would
be considered mediocre by General Motors but
absolutely ~ fantastic by a typical survey firm.
Remember: context!

5. | don't understand the terminology.

It seems like the people in the world of finance have
created a whole language unto themselves. Like the
Inuit have 18 different words for "snow", financiers
have a number of different words for "profit" - but many
of them mean exactly the same thing. As long as you
understand the question, it really doesn't matter what
you call the answer.

6. | am afraid what ] might find.

You are going to find out eventually. Why not find out
now while you can still do something about it?
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Financial
staiemenis
enable yon to
make a betler
deeision

You will be
able to:

The role of the business manager is to make decisions.

The only purpose for "doing the numbers" or preparing
financial statements is to give the business manager an
opportunity to make a more informed (and hopefully, better)
decision.

The purpose of this section is to put into context the type of
financial and accounting questions you should be asking
yourself - and debunk many myths associated with the topic
of money.

By the end of this module, you should be able to:

(1)  Understand what goes into the preparation of financial
statements and be able to tell the fundamental differences
between an Income Statement and a Balance Sheet.

(2) Ask the right questions that affect the financial

performance of your business and perform basic financial
calculations.

(3) Decide if you should purchase that total station or not.
(4) Determine the estimated value of a firm.

(5) Know what it costs to run a business.

(6) Use the Profit Dynamic;

(7) Develop a financial accounting and control system.
(8) Understand the concepts of "cash vs. profit", "expense

vs. expenditure”, "the cash-to-cash gap and financing",
"return”, "net present value”, "cash flow" and many more....



MAKING SENSE OF FINANCE

"You rise and fall on your assumptions.
Your logic must be clear, precise and consistent.”

There are two things every business manager should know
about financial statements.

First, financial statements are really only a list of numbers.

Second, accountants and bookkeepers prepare financial
statements but they don't tell you what decisions to make.

The only reason financial statements should be really
necessary is that so they will provide some information to a
business manager so that he or she can make a more
informed decision. (But, of course, there's no such thing as
perfect information.)

Too often, preparing or reviewing financial statements
becomes a boring, frustrating, routine exercise. No thought is
given to what the numbers might tell you.

The fascinating point about financial statements is that
anyone can use them to answer almost any kind of business
question.

This manual cannot tell you what the right answers are, but
it can give you a framework for asking the right type of
questions.



I. FOCUS
What decision do
we have to make?

2., TIME FRAME

The first question to ask is, "what decision do we have to
make?" It seems like a simple question but many business
people come up with a solution to something only to realize
it wasn't the problem in the first place.

If you have a simple, basic question that has to be answered

(like the ones below), then it is very easy to know if the
question has been reasonably answered when an apparent
solution has been uncovered.

Some of the questions listed below may seem so obvious that
they are not worth asking. However, put yourself in your
banker's shoes. If you were the banker, would you really lend
yourself the money?

Are you going to purchase an established company?
Are you going to start-up a new company?
Are you going to sell your business?

Are you going to buy (or rent) new equipment?
New Office Space?
Are you going to add new staff or downsize?

Are you going to ask for a loan or mortgage?
Are you going to ask for a longer line of credit?

What are your payment terms going to be?
What is going to be your budget for the next year? Next five
years?

What is the time frame of our decision?
Is it short term?

Is it long term?

What is the economic climate?



3. DECISION
CRITERIA

4. OPTIONS

What choices
deoes the firm
have?

What are the lending objectives?
minimize bad debts, rate of return on loan, risk/return
ratio, acceptable risk, increase/decrease lending
portfolio

What is your ability/willingness to repay?
Is the size of loan request reasonable?
Is growth managed? (Are you proactive or reactive?)
What is the reasonableness and certainty of your
objectives?
What is the value of the business to the community?
To the bank?

What collateral can you put up?
A bank doesn't like to take all the risk.

Increasel/decrease financing now or over length of time
The loan is granted/called

Renegotiate terms, length of payment, interest rate
Turnover to collection agency

C.0.D. - Cash on delivery

Controls - Maintain financial ratios and spending conditions
Additional collateral

Personal guarantee

Buy

Sell



Sa. GENERAL
ECONOMIC
FACTORS

ab. INDUSTRY
CONDITIONS

What is the state of the business cycle? (Boom or Bust)
What is the rate of inflation?
What are the general levels of interest rates (Bank Rate)?
What is the country's international position and the foreign
exchange rate relative to the Canadian dollar (even if your
firm has not yet gone global)?
What is the government doing in regulating general business
conditions and in particular industries and markets?
Besides the Surveys and Surveyors Acts, you might consider
the Occupational Health and Safety Act, the Income Tax Act,
Party policies (Liberal, Conservative) and many, many more.
Is the industry first or last hit by the boom/bust cycle?
What warning signals are there that will indicate a change in
the economy?
ie: change in political power, new housing starts,
interest rates, inflation rates, exchange rates, spreadin
Canada-U.S. interest rates.

Demand Risk
Uncertainty in demand
Elasticity of demand (How will changes in demand
affect price?)
Is it a luxury or necessity?
How will technological changes affect demand?

Supply Risk
What is the certainty of costs, distribution, availability
of materials & labour?
What is the competitive structure and future prospects
of the profession?



se. GENERAL
MARKET
OUTLOOK

How many competitors are there?

How big are the competitors?

What is the rate of industry growth?

How stable are industry profits?

What are the major opportunities and threats due to

P Political

E Economic

S Social

T Technological

developments?

What are the short and long term prospects for growth and
profitability in the industry?

Competitor Analysis
What is likely to be the state of future competition in
the profession because of new entrants or failures?
How intense is competition and how large are
competitors?
What are the barriers to entry (technology, capital,
price, legislation)?
Are substitute products are real threat?
What are your competitive stengths?
Economies of scale
Brand image
Strong channels of distribution
Financial resources to meet capital
requirements
* Cost advantages because of raw
material sources or prime locations
*  Government protection
*  Financial strength to fight off new
competition
*  Contribution margins

*

»

*



6. ABILITY TO
SUCCEED

ABILITY TO
SUCCEED -
MARKETING

ABILITY TO
SUCCEED -
OPERATIONS

Are you able to respond successfully to adverse economic
conditions or competitive challenges?
What are your key success factors?

Commodity or differentiated?

Service or product?

Niche or mass marketing?
Why do people do business with us?

Delivery, price, credit terms, company image, service?
How do you evaluate your performance in each key success
factor area?

What market segments have you targeted and what are the
needs and buying behaviour of each segment?

What is the relative importance of pricing, promotion, product
features, and distribution in achieving market share?

What is the company's strengths and weaknesses in each of
the critical marketing areas and, consequently, its ability to
gain a reasonable share of the market?

What are the company's plans to overcome any marketing
problems or deficiencies? (ie. disaster recovery plan)

What is the basic production process? What changes are
required to be competitive?
How adequate are the facilities (capacity, technology/quality)?
What quality control program do you have in place?
What is the relative cost position of the company?
(labour cost as a percent of overall costs?)
(expenses vs. expenditures?)
What is the impact of technological change?
What is the morale, ability, skill level of the firm's staff?
Does the firm have a policy on Research & Development?
What is likely to be the firm's ability to compete?
What are the financing needs as a result of changes in
production?
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ABILITY TO
SUCCEED -
MANAGEMENT

Often, the overriding factor which determines how successful
a business will be (and the type of relationship it will have
with the bank) is Management.

Therefore, this is the most important aspect of Risk
Assessment.

What is management's
...experience and training
...commitment and entrepreneurial drive
...capabilities as part of a management team
...character
...integrity
...leadership
...motivation



7. ABILITY TO
SUCCEED -
FINANCE

i EFFICIENCY

It is best to do the financial analysis only once you have a
thorough understanding of current business and market
conditions.

How effectively has management controlled costs, profits and
made use of financial resources?

Efficiency ratios attempt to explain how well the firm is using
the money it has and how much more it will need.

a) Days Sales Outstanding (DSO)
(Accounts Receivable * 365)/Sales

Average time to collect cash from sales

b} Days Sales in Inventory (DSI)
(inventory * 365)/COGS
Average time you have stakes before they are
used on a job. {COGS=Cost of Goods Sold)
¢) Cash-to-Cash Gap
DSO + DS! - DPO

The number of days for which financing is
required.

Essentially, you would say there is "x' days from
the time you pay for a job and the time you
receive the cash.
d) Required Financing
(GAP*COGS)/365

This number will give you an approximate dollar figure of the
ongoing financing you require.
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ii/ LIQUIDITY

i/
PROFITABILITY

€) Capacity Ultilization

Number of Billable Hours
Total Number of Hours

Can the firm expect to have enough cash on hand to meet its
current obligations?

a) Current Ratio A/R + Inventory + Cash
Current Liabilities

b) Acid Test A/R 4+ Cash
Current Liabilities
How profitable is the firm?
aj) Return on Capital Employed (ROCE)

Earnings before interest & Taxes
Debt + Equity

For debt, include bank loans, current, long term and
shareholder loans. Do notinclude A/P, accrued wages,
expenses. Use average of debt and equity over course
of past year.

b) Conmibution Margin (aka Gross Profit Margin)

(Net Sales - COGS)/Net Sales

¢) Retfurn on Equity (ROE)

Net Profit After Taxes
Equity

Always calculate before dividends
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iv/ FINANCING

v/ OTHER
RATIOS

d) Return on Assets

Earnings before Interest and Taxes
Long Term Assets

Are you making effective use of your assets?

Financing a business with all debt or all equity is not a viable
option. What is the "right” mix of debt and equity?

a} Interest Coverage
EBIT/Interest
A good ratio is approximately 20. This ratio
will give you a good sense of the proper
proportions of debt and equity financing.
b) Days Payable Outstanding (DPB)
(Accounts Payable * 365)/COGS
On average, how long does it take before
you pay a supplier?
¢) Debt fo Total Capitalization
(Total Debt)/(Total Debt + Equity)
Use long and short-term loan figures.
a) As a percentage of sales
Cost of Goods Sold?
Profit

Wages
Selling and General Administration
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vii/
SUSTAINABLE
GROWTH

b) What percentage of costs are fixed costs? Variable costs?
As sales increase, what happens to variable and fixed
cost proportions?

c) What is the relationship of assets to sales?
if sales go up, do assets go up?
As assets go up, do liabilities also go up?
Proportionately?

Is the firm's growth sustainable?

Does it have the financial resources at its disposal to
purchase new equipment, hire more labour, as it grows?

If a firm grows quickly, its cash flow depletes that much
quicker.



Puté Finanecial
Analysis in
context

Comparing
Ratios

Example

You will notice that of the seven categories of questions, only
one deals with finance.

You cannot make sense of finance nor ask the right questions
(and certainly not come up with decent answers) uniess you
understand the context in which the questions have to be
asked.

Rising costs are understandable in times of roaring inflation
but less so when inflation is close to 0%

S0, once you understand the context in which the questions
are asked, how do you make sense of all the returns, ratios
and percentages?

Suppose you discover that your ROCE is 12%. How do you
know if this return is good or bad?

There are four things you can do.

(1) Is 12% better or worse than last year? Or last statement
date?

(2) Is 12% better or worse than your competitors?

(3) Is 12% better or worse than you would have expected
given your sfrategy?

(4) How does a ROCE of 12% affect the decision you have to
make?

Suppose your ROCE was not as good as you expected (You
expected 18%, the same as last year). You can begin to ask
some basic non-financial questions and review some other
ratios in order to discover why.
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For example, you now know that ROCE is a profitability
calculation. Suppose you know from reading your Income
Statement that Net Profit (before taxes) has risen from $2,000
to $2,500 over last year.

By definition then, we know that something has changed to
the amount of "Capital Employed". In fact, it would have had
to have almost doubled.

But profits only rose by one-quarter - which means that the
additional capital you employed was poorly employed and
produced a very small benefit for you.

Now the question to ask is, Why?



SUMMARY

1. FINANCIAL ANALYSIS only makes sense if...
the financial statements are put in context of the overall

General Economic
Industry
Firm

conditions.

2. FINANCIAL RATIOS only make sense if...
there is some yardstick from which to compare the numbers (even if the
comparison is with your own expectations).

3. The only reason for FINANCIAL ANALYSIS is...
to assist the business manager to make a better decision.

4. FINANCIAL RATIOS will not tell you what the right answer is...
but will force you to ask the right questions.

5. Are the ANSWERS to your questions REALISTIC?
Try putting yourself in your banker's shoes



SETTING UP

A FINANCIAL CONTROL SYSTEM

Stalements are a
decision-making
tool

Gather daia
before it is

required

The purpose of this module is to provide business managers
with a framework for establishing (or re-establishing) a
financial control system.

As has been stated before, financial statements are only
useful if they provide the business manager with information
to make a more informed decision.

However, when a decision has to be made, it is too late to
start gathering financial data.

Therefore, it is best to have the data at your disposal before
you are faced with an important decision.

But what kind of information will you need?
How will you know what to look for?

Here are some suggestions.

As mentioned above, this is only a framework. You may tailor
it to suit your own individual needs. But regardless, it is
imperative to have a financial control system of some kind.



Every Month...

It would be considered good practice if every month you...

-.review Income Review your Income Statement and Balance Sheet as
Staiement & prepared by your bookkeeper or accountant.
Balance Sheet
It is not your job to prepare the statements (unless of
course you wish to) but it is your responsibility to

review them.
...have statements The statements should be easy for you to read. That
that are easy is, the page should not be cluttered with line after line
to read of numbers. If your statements are difficult to read, get

them changed! (But do nof hide important information.)

Statements should be prepared at regular intervals
(usually each month) and should be reviewed also at
regular intervals. In this manner, you will have the
opportunity to correct problems uncovered in the
financial statements.

When you review the financial statements, you should pay

.watch for: close attention to:
Revenues:
REVENUES Number of jobs (completed and in progress)

Types of jobs
Average price of jobs
Total revenue
Billable time

Expenses: .
EXPENSES Variable Costs vs. Fixed Costs
Contribution Margin
Expenses as a percent of total revenue
(le. wages as a percent of overall
revenue)
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ASSETS

LIABILITIES

and compare
with:

Here's what
you're looking
for w

Should not be
time eonsuming

Assets:
Cash position
Accounts receivable
(due and past due accounts)

Liabilities:
Current vs. Long-term liabilities
Debt/Equity ratio

Compare your financial statements with:

your budget

last month

this time last year
other firms

(I prefer my income statements to have four columns. For
example, my income statement ending this past June had four
columns labelled: Jan-Jun Actuals; 1994 budget, 1993 Jan-
Jun Actuals; 1993 Actuals. | find it makes comparison easier.)

When you compare figures you are looking for:

wild variations and
unforeseen costis and liabilities

If and when you find wild variations or unforeseen costs, you
can ask the question, "why?" and then decide to make
appropriate changes if necessary.

The entire review should take no more than 30 minutes if
there is nothing out of the ordinary and if the information
comes in a suitable format.
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Every 3-6 Months...

it would be considered good practice if every 3-6 months

you...
«.review budget Budgets lose all their credibility and value as decision-
and made any making tools if the forecasts prove to be absolutely
necessary wrong.
adjuséments
: Suppose you predicted 10% growth in sales but
actually had a 10% drop or inflation rose to 10%
but your prices remained constant.
Such rare events would make a budget worthless to
you for comparison purposes. {n such instances, it
would be necessary to prepare a revised budget to
take into account the changing world.
.review your Will the firm have to find new sources of financing or
finaneing more financing from current sources (ie. the bank)?
requirements
Does the firm have enough cash on hand to meet its
current obligations (ie: payroll, interest payments and
the like)?
What is the expected cash flow of the firm for the next
six months?
...review stirategie Does the firm's financial position necessitate making
objeetives and any changes to your strategic objectives or goals?
goals.

Not every deviation from budget will force you to make
changes to your goals. However, you don't want to wait
until year-end (and likely too late) before deciding that
you will have to change your goals or go bankrupt.
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Every 12 months

It would. be considered good practice if every twelve months

you...

c.prepare a mew Preparing budgets are never easy but they are

budget absolutely vital. People dislike preparing budget
because they often force difficult and painful decisions.

A good budget is Past performance

based onmn... Desired (or anticipated) strategic changes

Instead of an opportunity to dream and be creative and develop

budgeting being a new goals and directions for the firm...

chore, think of it

as... using anticipated sales and expenses as a "reality

check."

optimistic sales and expense projections.

Beware of...
Pue to human nature, it is common for sales to be
10% lower than expected and expenses 10% higher
than forecast. (Are you prepared if your budget
deviates from your forecast?)

should be clearly stated on your budget.
Your
assumptions...
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Example

Consult with your
bookkeeper or
accountant.

Consult with your
staff.

REVENUE Assumption

$400,000 200 SRPRs @ $500 each
20 construction projects @ $15,000 each

EXPENSES

Bookkeeping $12,000 to average $1,000 per month

Wages $30,000 one Party Chief @ $15 per hour for 250 days

Bars $4,000 $10 per SRPR/

$100 per construction project

For example, if you have budgeted sales to be $400,000,
what kind of sales of volume does this require? Will you
require more capital equipment to accommodate this amount
of work and has it been included in your budget?

By clearly spelling out what your assumptions are, it wili be
easier for you to revise your figures and avoid illogical
assumptions.

Since they are familiar with your. financial books and have
training, they may be an invaluable source of information and
suggestions.

Ask them to drop account numbers that are no longer active
and add ones where you require more specific information.
For example, you may ask your bookkeeper to set up
separate account numbers for postage and courier instead of
lumping them into one account called "mail". But do this only
if it will provide information which will eventually lead to a
decision.

Likewise, delete old accounts that are no longer used. If you
had an account for "Telex expenses", you can probably get rid
of it now.

Your staff may be more familiar with the defails of some of
your operations than you are in some cases. If you are
fooking for ways of changing procedures that wili improve
profitability, they may be a wealth of information. (Once a year
should be a minimum requirement; more often is better.)
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SUMMARY

Every month...

Every 3-6 months

Every year

Review Income
Statements and Balance
Sheets as prepared by
bookkeeper or accountant

Paying attention to...

Revenues
Expenses
Assets
Liabilities

While comparing with...

budget
last month
this time last year
other firms

And looking for...
wild variations

unforeseen revenues and
expenses

Review budget and make
interim changes

Review financing and
liquidity (cash flow)
position

Make changes to strategic
objectives and goals if
necessary

Prepare budget that
reflects...

developed strategic
objectives

past performances
logical and clearly-spelled

out assumptions

Consuit with
bookkeepers,
accountants and staff.




THE BUSINESS PLAN

The Business
Plan...

is not a
curiosity

A Good Business
Plan Consists of...

Any Ontario Land Surveyor who wishes to establish his or her
own business, must have a Certificate of Authorization (C of
A) granted to them by the Association of Ontario Land
Surveyors.

Similarly, a good business plan is also a must - if one intends
to stay in business for any length of time.

The business plan is not something you do to satisfy the
requirements or the curiosity of your banker. [t is a vital part
of any business. Without one, any business owner (surveying,
engineering, retail, manufacturing, etc.) is certain to fail!

The question becomes: What goes into a good business
plan?

A good business plan will consist of eight components...

Analysis of General Economic Conditions
Analysis of Industry Conditions

Analysis of Local Market Conditions
Analysis of Firm's Ability to Compete

Marketing Plan

Operations/Production Plan

Anticipated Management style and structure
Financial Plan (including 5-year budget)
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Don't
forget these
considerations...

Why be in
business?

Good reason

Bad reason

For more information about what goes into each of these
components, see the module on Making Sense of Finance.

With beginning a new business, there must be other
considerations too, such as...

Will my business be sole propietorship, a partnership,
or a limited company?

Have | spoken to a lawyer about incorporation (if
applicable)?

How much will the lawyer charge for his services?
How do | register for GST?

What bank will | deal with? Will they lend me funds (if
so, how much)? What is my relationship with the bank?
How much money will | (or my family, or my friends)
put up?

What are the tax consequences of my actions? Who is
my accountant?

Perhaps, the most important consideration is...

Why do { want to run my own business?

Is it because you feel there is a gap in the marketplace that
you can fill?

or

Is it because you think you can make more money being your
own boss?
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Assnmptions

Be specifie

Sensitivity
Analysis

Long Texrm

Are assumptions
consistent?

Take the time

Preparing a good business plan requires a great deal of
thought and effort.

As you prepare your analysis on each of the eight sections,
you must...

Consider what assumptions you are making and are
they realistic.

Be as specific as possible - backed up by research. It
is one thing to say that you think the bank will lend you
the necessary funds and that your local branch of the
CIBC will loan you $15,000 at 8.75% over five years if
you put up certain collateral. Is this enough financing
or will you need more?

Consider what happens if your assumptions prove to
be optimistic or pessimistic. (that is, what are your
contingency plans if things do not go acording to your
forecast?)

Consider the long term. It may be relatively easy to
predict what will happen in the next 12 months but
what about thereafter? What analysis have you done
to show that your business will be able to survive the
fong term?

Finally, are all your assumptions realistic and consistent? If
your analysis indicates market growth of 2%, how do you
realistically explain 10% growth in your business? It is not to
say that it is impossible, but it does give cause for
questioning.

Preparing a good business plan cannot be typed up in one
night on your home computer. it requires thoughtful analysis
and meetings with key people (bankers, lawyer, accountants,
even other surveyors) who will ultimately play a role in the
success of the business.
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You may think
you are fiooling
others but don't
fool yourself!

You may want your loan approved so badly that you decide
to doctor your budget or prepare an optimistic analysis.

But you are only fooling yourself if you ask your banker (or
yourself) to rely on those figures,

Don't kid yourself with optimistic forecasts and hopeful
analysisl!

If you take the time to prepare a proper business plan for your
own use, your new firm will have the chance at survival that
most don't get.

if you don't prepare a business plan now, then you will

certainly not have time for one when you actually start
operations.

Your business plan is your roadmap to success!



Two ways
to inecrease
cash

Five factors
that affiect
profitability

Now ask
questions

THE PROFIT DYNAMIC

As we have discussed, there are only two ways of increasing
cash within a firm.

1. It can have an owner personally contribute more money to
the firm or secure a loan from the bank.

2. It can sell its products and services at a profi.

While both sources are necessary, only the second one
provides a chance for long-term survival.

So, how does a firm manage to increase profits?

In the course of running a business, there are many decisions
you will have to make (some large and some small) that will
affect the profitability of the firm.

At its most basic level, there are really only five buttons you
can push that will impact profitability. it is important to keep
this in mind when developing a marketing strategy, a budget
or preparing to make any other kind of decision.

These buttons are: Volume
Price
Variable Costs
Fixed Costs
investments

Now you can begin to ask some important fundamental
questions, such as...

if you lower price, what will happen to volume?
If you are unable to investin more equipment, what will
happen to variable costs?

and so on...
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Which factor When you concentrate on improving profitability, are you
will you push going to concentrate on....
on?

increasing volume?

increasing price?

decreasing variable costs?

decreasing fixed costs?

decreasing investments (or capital spending)?

or some combination of all five?



The Profit Dynamic

If you want fo increase profits...
you will have fo...

Increase Volume
Increase Price
Decrease Variable Costs

Decrease Fixed Cosfs
Decrease Investments

while keeping everything else consfanf



WEIGHTED AVERAGE

Why use
Weighted Average
Cost of Capital?

What is it?

Debt costs $8$

So does Equity

COST OF CAPITAL

The weighted average cost of capital is a figure which, on its
own, means relatively little. However, it is crucial when comes
to making decisions such as:

Should | BUY or SELL the company?
Should | BUY or LEASE the piece of equipment?

The weighted average cost of capital is the after-tax cost of
equity and debt.

That is, debt costs the firm money and this money is known
as interest payments. Any firm hopes to invest in projects
(whether it is buying a company or leasing a piece of
equipment) where the incremental cash flow from the project
exceeds the amount of the interest payments.

Similarly, equity costs the firm money too. Every firm has a
choice. It can choose to invest its equity into a capital project
or it could choose to invest in,say, a mutual fund. Regardless
of the choice, the concept is the same. Is the firm going to
earn a higher rate of return investing in the capital project or
in the mutual fund?



aka Hurdle Rate,
Required Rate of
Return

Example

The Weighted Average Cost of Capital is sometimes also
known as the HURDLE RATE because every time you jump
over the hurdle, the incremental cash from the project has
exceeded the cost of financing the new piece of equipment.
It is also known as the REQUIRED RATE OF RETURN.

For example, suppose the firm's Weighted Average Cost of
Capital is 156% (how to derive this figure will be explained
shortly). The firm is considering purchasing an old firm's field
notes that will produce an incremental cash flow of 9%.

With this example, it would not make financial sense to
purchase the field notes because the Field Note Purchase will
not exceed the required rate of return.



The €ost
of DEBT

Long-term debt
only

Marginal
tax rate

Neot Average
Tax Rate

The Weighted Average Cost of Capital consists of three
elements:

Debt, Preferred Shares, Common Shares

Let us ook at how to calculate the cost of each one of these
elements.

The formuia for the cost of debt is:

Kd=Kx(1-1)

where Kd = After Tax cost of debt
K = Before Tax cost of debt
t = marginal tax rate

Let's say you want to go to the bank to borrow money. What
is the rate they are going to offer you? That is "K".

Big firms may issue bonds and other debt instruments which
would be included here but for the purposes of our
discussion, let's stick to the bank analogy.

We want to consider only long-term (more than one year)
debt since a capital project usually extends over the course
of a number of years.

" is the marginal tax rate. Since the cost of debt is
deductible for tax purposes, you must take this into account
in the equation.

Note that it is a marginal tax rate. "Marginal" means that you
use the rate at the tax bracket you are now at.

For example, suppose you are taxed 26% on the first
$200,000 of profit and 50% on everything else therafter. If
Brad Brooks had $250,000 of profit his average tax rate would
be 39% but his MARGINAL tax rate is 560%.
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Assuwming firm
is profitable

Example

Note that for the purpose of calculating the cost of debt, we
are assuming the company is profitable and can deduct
interest. If it is not profitable, and likely won't be for the
foreseeable future, then t=0.

For Brad Brooks, suppose his before-tax cost of debt is
8.18% and his marginal tax rate is 45%. Therefore, his after
tax cost of debt is:

R =5.18 * (7 - 0.45)

= 4.5%



The Cost of
EQUITY:
PREFERRED
SHARE

The Cost of
EQUITY:
COMMON
SHARES

One QOption

Calculating the cost of equity is more difficult. Equity is the
total of the common and preferred shares of a firm.

Preferred shares have no maturity date. They are paid
dividends prior to common shareholders (hence their
"preferred" status).

Assuming that the dividend is paid each year, the cost of
preferred shares is:

D
Kp=2
P

Where Kp = Cost of preferred shares
D = Annual Dividend
| = Net proceeds from Preferred issue

Note that preferred-share dividends are paid out of after-tax
funds. If the dividend is not paid regularly, then this formula
cannot be used.

The traditional way to calculate the cost of equity is:

D
Ke=(—
e (P0)+g

Where Ke = Cost of Equity
D = Dividends to be paid in first year
Po = Price of shares today
g = growth rate of dividends

Unfortunately, this equation has several problems for the
average survey firm. First, shares are not publicly traded and,
therefore, do not have a "price" the same way a Bell Canada
does. Second, it is very difficult to estimate in a small firm the
growth rate of dividends.

75




A Betier Optlion

Example

So what alternative do we have?

Let's ask the question in a different way. If you asked a
stranger to contribute $1,000 to the firm, what kind of return
would the stranger expect?

Or

if you had $1,000, would you earn a better return investing in
the firm or an equity mutual fund?

There are still problems with this approach. It assumes
dividends will be constant and that your firm is similar to that
of the underlying securities in the mutual fund. However, that
is the problem with trying to estimate the cost of equity.

There is another solution.

Using your financial statements, you can calculate your
Return on Equity (ROE) (see Making Sense of Finance).

_ Net-Profit-After-Tax
Equity

ROE

The Return on Equity will tell you in percentage terms, how
much value the firm's equity produced.

The assumption with this equation is that you want your Cost
of Equity on this capital project to be at least the same as
your ROE last year and that economic conditions will be
exactly the same.

Brad Brooks looked at his Income Statement as saw that the
firm's Earnings After-Tax was $10,930.

By looking at this year's Balance Sheet he saw an Opening
Retained Earnings figure of $33,916 and a Closing Retained
Earnings figure of $44,846. (Take the average equity amount
because equity was accumulating throughout the entire year.)

Therefore, the average equity figure was $39,381.
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Brad calculated his Cost of Equity as:

Ke = __$10,930
$39,381
= 27.75%
Best Available Brad was concerned that this figure was not accurate.
Cost figure However, Brad came to realize that his reasoning was sound,

his analytical model was solid, and that he had no better
information at his disposal.

He stuck with the figure.



THE
WEIGHTING
SYSTEM

Assuming project
financed in same
proportions

Use the
Balance Sheet for
weightings

Since Brad's decision (to buy the new piece of equipment or
sell the firm or whatever decision he has to make) will involve
both debt and equity financing, he must find a way of coming
up with a single figure for the cost of capital.

If the bank is going to loan the entire amount for the purchase
of the total station, then the Weighted Average Cost of Capital
is simply the cost of the debt.

Often, however, the bank will loan only a portion of the
amount necessary. (This is particularly true where the
purchase of a company is involved.)

The Weighted Average Cost of Capital equals:

(WiXKd) + (w2)(Kp) + (w3)(Ke)

where w1+w2+w3=100%

How does one determine what w1,w2 w3 (the weighting

system) are?

The easiest way is to use the proportions from the Balance
Sheet.

H Market Value Propottion Cost Weighted Cost
E Debt $96,000 68% 4.5% 3.1%

E Preferred | G 0% 0 0

E Common | $44,846 32% 27.75% 8.88%

The Cost of Capital for Brad Brooks is 3.1% + 8.88%, or
11.98%.




Go or No Go

Don't be too
striet with the
numbers

Brad Brooks hurdle rate is 11.98%. Any capital project that
eamns 11.98% or more is worth doing. Any return less is not
worthwhile.

Nevertheless, remember that we have used a number of
(informed) estimates in deriving this cost of capital. Brad
should not automatically dismiss a capital project with a return
of 11.96% or automatically accept one at 12.01%.

However, this figure gives Brad a framework for making a
more informed decision.



SUMMARY

The Weighted Average Cost of Capital is used {o discount cash flows for buy/sell,
buy/lease or don't-purchase-at-all type of decisions.

The Weighted Average Cost of Capital is the after-tax cost of debt, preferred
shares and common shares.

The weighting proportions are the same ones as found in the firm's Balance Sheet.



THE CAPITAL PURCHASE

Buy or Lease

What are
Capital
Purchases?

Depreciation
Expense
Versms
Accnmulated
Depreciation

Example

DECISION

Are you going to buy (or lease) a new total station or
computer system for the firm?

Equipment, such as total stations and computers, is called
capital equipment. It is called this because it will be used over
a number of years for many different jobs which will produce
cash inflow for you in the near future.

Items, like SIBs, are not capital equipment because they are
(or at least will be) associated with a particular job.

Capital purchases are usually expensive but since the
equipment is expected to last for a number of years, the
purchase cost does not appear on the Income Statements as
an Expense.

Instead, the capital equipment appears on the Balance Sheet
as an Asset (because it will produce money for you). Each
year, a portion of the asset (say, 10% of purchase value) will
be deducted from the Asset (called Accumulated
Depreciation) and added to the Income Statement as a
Depreciation Expense.

Let's suppose Brad Brooks bought a $10,000 Total Station
which he is going to depreciate at $1,000 per year for 10
years.

Yr1 Yr 2 Yr3
Depreciation Expense $1,000 $1,000 $1,000
Accumulated Depreciation $1,000 $2,000 $3,000



THE

NET PRESENT VALUE

Should you buy?
Should you lease?
Or do nothing at
all?

Example

The Purchase
Cost

Cost Savings

Additional Cosis

SOLUTION

Since the decision to purchase or lease capital equipment
involves a great deal of money, how can you be sure that you
are getting your money's worth?

Like many other decisions, you must look at projected
revenues and expenses over a period of time.

Suppose you are considering buying a Geodileica Total
Station.

v The purchase price is $10,000, payable now.

v The Total Station is expected to last 8 years if it is properly
maintained (Maintenance costs amount to $500 per year).
v At the end of eight years, you can expect $1,000 salvage
value.

v Time for 15 more jobs per year @ $200 contribution
margin = $3,000
v No longer repairing old Total Station = $1,000 per year.

v Training Costs = $1,000 in year one and $500 in year two
v Additional Insurance Costs = $500 per year because of
increased workload.



CHART 1

Now Yri Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 YrsS Yr6 Yr7 Yr8
Purchase -$10,000
Maint. -$500 -$500 -$500 -$500 -$500 -$500 { -$500 -$500
Salvage +$1,000
Training -$1,000 -$500
Insurance -$500 -$500 -$500 -$500 -$500 -$500 | -$500 -$500
Savings $4,000 | $4,000 | $4,000 | $4,000 | $4,000 $4,000 | $4,000 $4,000
Benefit -$10,000 { $2,000 | $2,500 | $3,000 | $3,000 | $3,000 $3,000 | $3,000 $4,000
PV factor 1.00 0.89 0.80 0.71 0.64 0.57 0.51 0.45 0.40
@ 12%
Benefit x -$10,000 | $1,780 | $2,000 | $2,130 | $1,920 | $1,710 $1,530 | $1,350 $1,600
PV
Net
Present -$10,000 | -$8,220 | -$6,220 | -$4,090 | -$2,170 -$460 $1,070 | $2,420 $4,020
Value
In the above chart, Brad Brooks has added ail his cost
savings and subtracted all of his cash outflows (Row
"Benefit").
Since Brad knows his Cost of Capital (see Weighted Average
Cost of Capital) is approximately 12%, he discounted the cash
flows for the eight years of the project. The present value
Finding PV factor can be found in any Present Value Table in most
factors finance books, on an HP Financial Calculator, or any

Time Value
of Money

Go or No Go

computer spreadsheet program.

The row marked "Benefit x PV" shows the discounted cash
flow values. For example, $3,000 in six years from now is the
same as $1,530 today at a rate of 12%.

The row marked "Net Present Value" is simply accumulated
cash inflows and outflows of the project. A project should be
taken on if the NET PRESENT VALUE is greater than zero
(which it is, $4,020) and rejected if it is zero or less.
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What does NPV
mean?

Lease insiead

Simply put, a NET PRESENT VALUE of $4,020 tells you that
this project will contribute $4,020 to the value of the company
(if your assumptions hold true).

Suppose you considered leasing the Total Station instead of
purchasing it. The Geodileica representative wants $2,000

of Purchase down and $1,500 over six years. You will be responsible for
maintenance costs. There is, of course, no salvage value.
Using the same approach:
CHART 2
Now Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr 4 Yrs Yré Yrv7 Yra
Payments -$2,000 | -$1,500 | -$1,500 | -$1,500 | -$1,500 | -$1,500 -$1,500
Maint. -$500 -$500 -$500 -$500 -$500 ~-$500
Salvage
Training -$1,000 -$500
Insurance -$500 -$500 -$500 -$500 -$500 -$500
Savings $4,000 | $4,000 | $4,000 | $4,000 | $4,000 $4,000

-$2,000

‘\;Beneﬁt $500 $1,000 $1,500 $1,500 $1,500 $1,500
PV factor 1.00 0.89 0.80 0.71 0.64 0.57 0.51
@ 12%

Benefit x -$2,000 $445 $800 $1,065 $960 $855 $765
PV

Net

Present -$2,000 | -$1,555 -$755 $310 $1,270 $2,125 $2,890
Value

Im this example...
Purchase rather
than lease

NPV accomodates
different time
horizons

Although leasing the total station is also a good decision
(because it has a positive Net Present Value of $2,890),
purchasing makes more sense in this case because it has a
greater NPV. ($4,020 versus $2,890).

Even though the purchase option is over 8 years and the
lease option is over 6 years, NPV (P stands for PRESENT)
allows us to compare. We are comparing apples with apples.
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TAXES AND NET PRESENT VALUE

To date, we have not considered taxes. If Brad Brooks' firm
was not subject to tax, then our analysis could stop now.

We don't get (o However, if Brooks' firm is profitable, Revenue Canada will
keep all the exira have its share of the extra profit created from the purchase of
profit! the Total Station.

Therefore, we must factor in taxation into our Net Present
Value Equation.

Marginal Tax Suppose Brad Brooks' marginal tax rate is 456%. Then, the
Rate relevant equation becomes:

NPV(after tax) = NPV(before tax) - * (1-t)

Where "t" is the marginal tax rate.

See what happens when we add two more rows to our chart
{based on Chart 1):

CHART 3

Now Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 YrS Yr6 Yr7 Yr8
Benefit -$10,000 | $2,000 $2,500 $3,000 | '$3,000 | $3,000 | $3,000 A$3,000 $4,000
PV @ 12% 1.00 0.89 0.80 0.71 0.64 0.57 0.51 0.45 0.40
Benefit x PV -$10,000 | $1,780 $2,000 $2,130 $1,920 | $1,710 | $1,530 | $1,350 | $1,600
TX @45% $801 $900 $959 $864 $769 $689 $607 $720
Benefit - Tax $979 $1,100 $1,171 $1,056 | $941 $841 $743 $880
NPV (After tax) | -$10,000 | -$9,021 | -$7,921 | -$6,750 | -$5,694 | -$4,753 | -$3,912 | -$3,169 | -$2,289

All of a sudden, because of taxes, the NPV has changed from
positive to negative.

Now, the signal is that you should NOT proceed with
With taxes, purchasing the total station.
the decision is
NO GO

But there may be hope yet!




CAPITAL COST ALLOWANCE

Depreciation
expense not
permitted for tax

purpeoses

Revenue Canada
assigns assets
CCA class and
CCA rate

Half-year rule

In financial accounting, the expense of a capital investment is
called Depreciation. An accountant or bookkeeper can
expense the capital investment using a number of different
methods (straight-line, double declining balance) depending
on the expected life of the investment and its salvage value.

Revenue Canada wants to collect as much tax revenue as it
can. If a firm was able to expense the entire amount of its
capital investment right away, the firm could claim enough
depreciation to cover its revenues and never pay a cent in
tax. Therefore, Revenue Canada does not aliow Depreciation
for tax purposes.

Instead, it allows a system called CAPITAL COST
ALLOWANCE (CCA) - which is really a form of accelerated
depreciation. Revenue Canada has grouped all depreciable
assets into a series of classes and assigned them a CCA
rate.

Suppose the total station mentioned above falls into Class 8
which Revenue Canada says has a CCA rate of 20%. This
means that Brad Brooks can claim 20% of the assets in that
class as expenses {except in the first year of owning the total
station when he can only claim one-half, or 10%).

For example, suppose Brad purchases the $10,000 Total
Station. Assuming there are no other assets in the Class 8
pool of assets, this is what Class 8 would look like:

Yr 1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5+
E Balance in Class 8 at beginning of year nil $9,000 $7,200 $5,760

Addition $10,000

CCA taken $1,000 $1,800 $1,440 $1,152

Balance in pool at end of year $9,000 $7,200 $5,760 $4,608
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CCA on declining Notice that Brad can only take 20% of the opening balance as

balance only CCA and not 20% of the original purchase price.
Also note that he can claim only 10% the year he purchases
the asset.

Disposal of Asset For the purposes of this discussion, let's leave what happens

when the asset is sold to another time.

Capital Cost Allowance is a means of shielding tax from
CCA reduces Revenue Canada according to Revenue Canada's rules.
taxable income

Suppose Brad Brooks decided for financial reporting purposes

to show straight-line depreciation of $1,000 on the total station

for 10 years. However, he can only claim for tax purposes the

maximum Capital Cost Allowance.

How does CCA affect his taxable income?

Yr1 Yr 2 Yr3 Yr4 Yrb+
E Income before tax $12,000 $11,000 | $15,000 $6,000
| Add: depreciation® $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000

Taxable income before | $13,000 $12,000 $16,000 $7,000

CCA

CCA taken $1,000 $1,800 $1,440 $1,152

Taxable Income $12,000 $10,200 $14,560 $5,848

By purchasing any asset where CCA is taken, the firm.is able

Tax Shield effeet to reduce its taxable income. This "shielding" of tax creates
has monetary value for the firm and encourages firms to purchase capital
value equipment.

¢ And any other expenses deducted on the books which are not allowed for income
tax purposes.
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How big is the
tax shield effee(?

Present Value of
Tax Shield
formula

Example

Brooks shields
this amount =&

Add PVTS to
NPV (aftexr-tax)

So how does CCA affect Brad Brooks' decision to buy the
Total Station or not?

Fortunately, there is a formula that calculates the value of the
tax shield. It is:

PRESENT VALUE OF TAX SHIELD =

. c 2+r
pm—txtx( . +r] x( 2=l +r)]

Where
| = the net addition (or deduction) from the CCA pool
t = rate of taxation
¢ = CCA rate
r = required after-tax rate of return

In our example, the net addition for the purchase of the Total
Station is $10,000; the tax rate is assumed to be 45%; the
CCA rate is 20% and the required after-tax rate of return
(Wacc) is 12%.

Therefore, the Present Value of the Tax Shield is:

20 2+0.12
=$10,000x0.45x —
pris=$10,000x x(.20+0.12)x(2><(1+0.12))

pves '$4’500x( .32]"(2.24)

pvis=$2,661.83

This number tells Brad Brooks that by claiming CCA the firm
is able to (in present value terms) shield $2,661.83 from
Revenue Canada and keep it within the firm.

Now, by adding the PRESENT VALUE of the TAX SHIELD to
the NPV of AFTER-TAX SAVINGS (Chart 3), Brad can
determine the overall vaiue of the investment to the firm.
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Because of CCA, OVERALL VALUE = $2661.83 + (-$2,289)
the signal in this
case is GO! = $372.83

Again, indications are (since the NPV of all future cash flows
is positive) that purchasing the total station will create value
for the firm and Brad Brooks should proceed.



SUMMARY OF THE CAPITAL
PURCHASE DECISION

1. Determine:
the cost of purchasing {or leasing) the piece of equipment;
the payment schedule;
the number of years the equipment will be in use;
the salvage value at the end of the equipment'’s life.

2. Estimate the Cost Savings, inclnding:
productivity savings from doing work better or being able to do more jobs;?
savings from not having to repair old equipment or purchase other types of new
equipment;

3. Estimate the Additional Costs, inclading:
training staff on new equipment;
additional maintenance and insurance costs;
additional equipment costs;
interest costs if loan required for purchase.

4. Determine Cost of Capital and Marginal Tax Rate (if not done so already);

5. Calenlate Net Present Value of after tax savings
{using a chart or spreadsheet similar to Chart 3);

3 You may not think that you are going to get more jobs because of your decision to
purchase a piece of equipment but consider the number of jobs you may LOSE to your
competition because you have not upgraded to the newest model.

This is also a form of cost savings!
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6. Calculate Present Value of Tax Shield;

7. Add NPV of aiter-tax savings and Present Value of Tax Shield. If the sum is

greater than zero, then the signal is "GQO". If the sum is less than zero, then the signal
is "NO GO".

8. Review all assuamptions. Are there any non-financial issues you have not
considered? How sensitive is your Go/No Go decision to your assumptions? (ie: will your
decision change if your cost of capital is higher?)



Purpose of
this seection

Objective:
Receive Iair price

Consulté with
experts before
finalizing any
deal

Underlying
Valuation
FPrinciple:

VALUATION

The purpose of this module is to give the business manager
a framework for estimating the value of a business for
purchase or sale.

Estimating the value of a company is probably the most
difficult aspect of financial planning. It is so difficult because
you must make a number of informed guesses before arriving
at an estimated value.

And still, both the purchaser and the seller wish to ensure that
they are receiving a fair price for the sale of the firm.

It is absolutely crucial before finalizing any deal that you
consult with your lawyer and accountant. They are experts in
their fields and have more experience in valuation than almost
any other group of people.

But before you call in the experts, you want to know if the
offer to buy your company is in the ballpark or not!

The principle in determining the value of a business is to
estimate the annual cash income after taxes from the
acquisition.

AnnualCashincome . ACT ACI

Value= + +oe
1+WACC (1+WACC)® (1+WACC)

where WACC is the Weighted Average Cost of Capital

it is important to remember that what happened to the firm in
the past is irrelevant uniess it has an impact on future
earnings. For example, the fact that a business that had a
50% Return on Capital Employed (ROCE) five years ago is
absolutely irrelevant. if the new owner thinks he/she can
duplicate that feat, that is relevant!



What Is Annual
€Cash Imcome?

Focus on CASH
not Net Profit

The point is: you must be future-oriented!
And that is where the difficulty in valuation arises.

The numerator (Annual Cash Income) is is fundamental to the
equation. You must estimate the annual cash income to the
firm over the next, approximately, 10 years.

Annual Cash Income is the incremental increase (or
decrease) in cash (and other liquid securities such as
accounts receivables over the course of one year).

Annual Cash Income is not "net income" as stated on
financial statements. The Net Income figure includes
expenses (which were paid for by cash last year) but not
expenditures (cash paid out this year but not reflected on this
year's financial statements) due to standard accounting
procedures. For example:

Net Income $13,837
(after interest & taxes but
before dividends)
Add: Depreciation Expense
(and any other non-cash items) $ 6,429
Subtract: New investments $11,000
(cash paid out but does not
appear as expense on income statement)

Annual Cash Income $ 9,266

You want to focus on "Cash Income™ instead of "Net Income"
so that you get an accurate picture of what the business will
provide to you financially. After all, you expect the business
to generate cash for you, don't you?

It is very easy to have an inflated net income but it can hide
the fact that you have had to spend thousands of dollars to
replace aging equipment and that you really don't have as
much cash inflow as it appeared.



Estimating
Annual Cash
Income

NON-FINANCIAL
CRITERIA

Now that you know what Annual Cash Income is, how do you
estimate it?

There are many factors to consider. However, they all relate
to the future of the business and its competitive advantages.

Always assume that the business will carry on as a going
concern and that assets will not be sold as part of a
liquidation sale.

Here is a list of a few criteria you may want to consider.

1. What are the KEY SUCCESS FACTORS in this business?
(such as, quality, price, timeliness, etc.)

. What are its STRENGTHS?

. What are its WEAKNESSES?

. Are there any OPPORTUNITIES in the industry?

. Are there any THREATS to the industry?

[S I S I LN

. What is the DEMAND risk?
. What is the SUPPLY risk?

~ O

- 8. Do we have a Unique Selling Proposition?

9. Who are our COMPETITORS? (other survey firms, title
insurance, etc.)
10. Is there a NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT W|th
previous owner?

11. What is MANAGEMENT's capabilities, both the seller's
and buyer's? (history of management, reactive/proactive to
change, management style, management policies)

12. Does management have a STRATEGIC PLAN and
BUDGET?

13. What is this company's HISTORY?
14. Does it have a reputation for QUALITY?
15. Does the firm name/owner have a good strong

REPUTATION in the community?

16. What is the ECONOMIC CLIMATE? (political policies,
boom/bust, interest rates housing starts, etc.)

17. Why is the OWNER SELLING? Am | PREPARED to make
the sacrifice to run the business?



FINANCIAL
CRITERIA

They are
informed guesses

= but guesses
nonetheless.

Common
Fallacies

in Business
Valunation

1. Does the investment have the ABILITY TO REPAY?

2. What COLLATERAL has the firm put up for financing?
What collateral may have to be put up in the future?

3. What is the firm's FINANCIAL HISTORY?

4. What is the firm's COST STRUCTURE? (fixed costs to
variable costs, wage rates, receivables paid on time, etc)

5. What is the firm's PROFITABILITY?

6. What are the value of the firm's ASSETS (will you be
forced to purchase new equipment)?

7. Are you assuming existing firm's LIABILITIES (including
potential insurance claims)? Are there any Liens or other legal
impediments to the sale of the business?

8. Is the firm GROWING? (sales, profit, asset, or equity
growth)

9. Is the firm STABLE? (debt/equity ratio)

10. Is the firm LIQUID? (cash position, now and over a period
of time)

11. Is the firm financially EFFICIENT? (cash-to-cash gap,
collecting A/R)

The assumptions that you make here will determine what you
expect future cash revenues and cash expenses to be.

No two people will make the same set of assumptions.

No set of assumptions will be entirely correct; you must make
informed guesses.

However, most new business owners make common errors
when making assumptions. They are:

"Now that {'m the owner, I'll automatically be able to increase
sales (without incurring any extra expenses)."

"Now that I'm the owner, I'll be able to trim the fat and cut
expenses."

"Revenues will keep going up. (Gee, | never expected this
recession)."



Don't do
yourself a
disservice...

Estimate
Cash Flows
Yor How
Long?

One eomplete
hoom/bust eyele

"I don't plan to spend any money on computer upgrades or
equipment replacement."

While these statements sound silly in this form, many new
business owners fail to incorporate them in their budgeting.

in order to answer the non-financial questions, you will have
to take some time to consider how the business fits within the
survey profession and within the community you intend to
serve,

To answer the financial questions, you will need access o the
firm's financial statements (both current and past) and be
prepared to do some rudimentary financial analysis so that
you will be able to project reasonable cash flows.

This is especially important if you are the proposed purchaser.
It is absolutely essential that you have access to the firm's
financial statements. It is equally essential that you get an
accurate view of the firm's fixed assets (Is their equipment in
desperate need of repair?)

In other words, you must physically visit and inspect the
workplace of your proposed investment. You must see the
firm's financial statements. A purchaser is doing himself a
disservice if he relies solely on the (biased) opinions of the
current owner (even if the current owner is a friend).

If estimating cash flows for your first year of operation is
difficult, estimating them for your tenth year is that much more
difficult.

Some people recommend estimating cash flows for 3-5 years;
some for as long as 20 years.

| prefer ten years because your assumptions can still be fairly
realistic and, over ten years, you will have gone through one
entire boom/bust cycle. Despite this assertion, the longer you
are able to estimate cash flows reasonably, the more
reasonable your valuation figure will be.



Brad Brooks'
Example

The boom/bust cycle of the economy is the most natural,
inevitable, unalterabie truth about economics. By estimating
cash flows for ten years, you will have a sense that your
business will be able to survive both the good AND bad times.

Brad Brooks received a phone call on Friday afternoon from
one of his colleagues with whom he'd graduated with at
Erindale College. Brad's friend was tired of working at the
Government Ministry and wanted to work in private practice.
Would Brad consider selling his firm to his friend?

Brad's friend offered him $100,000 for the business. Was this
a good deal?

Over the weekend, Brad sat down at his computer and
estimated his Annual Cash Income over the next 10 years.
Here's what his spreadsheet looked like:



Brad's
assmmptions

Brad ealenlates
estimated value
of the firm

What does the
value mean?

Now that Brad had a series of cash flows, he knew he had to
discount them by his (weighted-average) cost of capital to
take into account the time value of money (that is, receiving
$100 today is worth more than receiving $100 one year from
now).

Brad had determined what his weighted average cost of
capital was earlier when he made his buy-rent decision.

Brad's firm showed a net joss in 1992 and 1993 but 1994
seemed encouraging to him. Brad felt that 1985 would be
even better and that 2000 would be his best year in terms of
net profit. However, Brad also knew that he would likely have
to make major capital purchases in 1996 to replace his old
equipment that he purchased in 1991. Unfortunately, he felt
that he would likely have to replace the whole thing again in
2000.

Taking all of his information into account, he determined that
the future value of the business was $11,784. He added
$85,226 of his current cash on hand (and liquid securities).
Finally, he knew that he had $26,918 in accounts receivable
of which he was sure he would be able to collect at least 80%
(or, $21,534) of it.

By adding all these figures together, he arrived at a value of
$118,544.

(Note that we are assuming in this example that Brad's friend is going to
assume all assets and liabilities. If he doesn't, then it will affect the
estimated value of the business.)

What does $118,544 mean? It means that Brad would make
more money (ie. be better off) if he could sell the business for
$118,544 or more.

if Brad's friend had used the same assumptions, it means that
Brad's friend would make money on the investment if he were
able to buy the business for less than $118,544.

Of course, it is highly unlikely they used the same
assumptions (or had access to the same information).



Starting point
for megotintion

Personal
considerations

Negotiating
issues

The $118,544 figure is only a starting point for negotiation.
The actual selling price may be quite different but at least
Brad could get a sense of whether he was getting a good
deal or not.

Brad will want to consider other factors too, stch as:

* how much he enjoys (or hates) running his own business;
* what else he would do if he didn't run his own business;
* changing strategies to increase value of business.

* personal tax consequences

If Brad did decide to sell, he would have to negotiate:

What exactly is the purchaser buying?
Terms of payment
(cash sale, share purchase, dissolution of
business and start-up of new business)
Payment over what length of time;
Non-competition agreements;
Assumption of liabilities;

And, of course, his lawyer and accountant should review the
terms of the agreement, verify Brad's assumptions because
of their expertise and formalize the sale agreement. In some
cases, the purchaser may wish to have an audit conducted
before the sale is finalized.

In this case, however, Brad decided he enjoyed having his
own business and decided not to sell.



SUMMARY

. Foreeast Annual Cash income
Take Net Income after tax and add back in depreciation and subtract new
investments based on your assumptions about the firm's potential performance.

. Forecast Annual Cash Income over at least 10 years.

. Get lmnﬁs on real (preferably, audited) financial statements and visit the office.
.- Determine weighted average cost of eapital (if not done so already).

. Determine estimated value of firm (using valuation formula).

. What exaetly are you buying (or wish to buy)?

. Negotiate.

. Get lawyer and accountant invelved to finalize details.
You may want to bring in your accountant earlier if it appears that there is a real
possibility of closing the deal.

It will be difficult in some cases to make reasonable estimates (such as
depreciation amounts) without the assistance of an accountant.

There may also be personal tax consequences of buying or selling the business
for which you will need professional advice.



SUMMARY of

"DOING THE NUMBERS"

By this time, you should have a grasp on many important and fundamental financial
concepts that will, we hope, enable you to manage your operation a little easier.

If nothing else, we hope you appreciate...
there is no reason to be afraid of financiai statements
or analysis;

the purpose of financial statements is to allow you to
make decisions and not to be ruled by them;

and

everything you have just learned is
completely useless...

unless you take the time to develop financial systems suitable to the
needs of your firm and make that extra effort to develop realistic
assumptions and perform some important financial analysis.

If you do, you will be better off than 90% of the people in business
today.



BRAD BROOKS SLIRVEYING LTD

1994 BLUDGET

REVENUES

82 SRPRs
164 Retracement
6 Construction

RECOVERED DISBURSEMENTS

SIBs/Field Expenses
Research

Printing
Transportation
Hotels/Meals
Equipment Rentals
Blue Stickers
Sub-Contractors

TOTAL REVENUE

VARJABLE EXPENSES
Staff ‘A' Wages
Staff 'B' Wages
Professional Wages

SiBs/Field Expenses
Research

Printing
Transportation
Hotels/Meals
Equipment Rentals
Blue Stickers
Sub-Contractors

TOTAL VARIABLE EXFENSE

CONTRIBUTION MARGIN

$73,800
$246,000
$45,000

$6,000
$6,300
$3,500
$2,500

$675

$850
$2,188
$2,500

$389,313

$36,212
$27,936
$46,000

$26,500
$6,300
$3,500
$24,000
$1,500
$1,200
$2,188
$4,000

—————————————

$209,977

% of sales

93.70%

6.30%

46.06%

53.94%

ASSUPTIONS

82 jobs @ $900 each
164 jobs @ $1,500 each
6 jobs @ $7,500 each

Only recover construction job costs

10,000 kms @ $0.25 per km
Only 45% is recoverable

Only 63% is recoverable

1 field staff @ $22 per hour
1 field staff @ $18 per hour
1 OLS @ $50 per hour

$50-SRPR/$100-Retrac't/$1,000-Constr'n job
$25 for 180 jobs

96,000 kms @ $0.25 per km

special EDM rental
$17.50 for 125 plans



FIXED EXFENSES
NON-ALOCITED WAGES
Field Staff A Wages
Field Staff B Wages
OLS Wages
Bookkeeper

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Unemployment Insurance
Canada Pension Plan
Employer Health Tax
Workers Compensation
Group Insurance

Group RSP

Vacation Pay

LICENSE/MEMBERSHIP FEES
License (OLS) fees

C of Afee

ISTO dues

CIG dues

Annual Corparate filing

INEURINCE
Professional Liability
Car Insurance
Theft/Fire Insurance
Life Insurance

NON-CHSH EXPENCES
Bad Debt Expense
Depreciation Expense

PREMICES

Office

Hydro (heat, light, power)
Telephone/Fax/Cell phone
Postage

Courier

Photocopier Lease
Storage

$6,006
$2,016
$47,400
$2,400

$3,311
$3,311
$1,656
$1,242
$7,451
$4,967
$2,887

$915
$325
$150
$100

$50

$1,500
$2,400
$300
$150

$27,252
$22,000

$3,600
$1,100
$3,000

$800
$1,200
$2,400
$1,200

wages not allocated to specific job

$200 per month

2.0% of total wages
2.0% of total wages
1.0% of total wages
0.75% of total wages
4.5% of total wages
3% of total wages
4.0% of staff wages

up 15% from previous year
$200 per month

7% of revenues
depreciation on computers, total stations etc.

$300 per month

$91.67 per month

$250 per month

$66.67 per month

$100 per month

$200 per month

$100 per month for storing survey records



PROMOTION

Advertising $1,200 $100 for Yellow pages ad per month
Christmas Cards $250 $1.25 per card for 200 cards
Prospective Clients $1,500
2INK
Bank Transaction Charges $450
Audit Fees $1,000 audit by local C.A.
TRAINING
Training Seminars $500 Attending three seminars per year
Educational Publications $100
Certification Training $400 $t. John Ambulance first aid training
NON-CHIPITIL EQUIPYENT
Maintenance Expenses $3,000 for compurters, total stations, autos
Other non-capital supplies $2,000
ADMINISTRATIVE
Stationery $1,500
Computer supplies $1,000
OTHER
Legal $1,000
Miscellaneous $1,000
Loan Principal $6,186
TOTAL FIXED EXPENSES $172,175 44.23%
EARNINGS BEFORE
INTEREST & TAX $37,802 9.71%
Loan Interest $4,013 5 yr, $40,000 loan @ 10%
Taxes $17,011 45% of EBIT

EARNINGS AFTER TAX $16,778 4.31%



BRAD BROOKS SLURVEYING LTD.
CAPITAL PURCHASE SPREADSHEET

Year.> 1
1993 1994 1995
Net Profit ($9,288) $12,671 $37,802
Less: Taxes @45% $0 $5702 $17,011
Add: Depreciation $1.280 $1,024 $10,819
Less: New [nvestments $0 $0 $100,000
ANNUAL CASH INCOME ($8,008) $7,993 ($68,390)
Present Value of Annual Cash  $11,784

CAPITAL COST ALLOWANCE - CLASS 8

Year -> 1

1993 1994 1995

Opening CCA Balance $6,400  $5,120 $4,006
Acquisitions $0 $0 $100,000
Depreciation $1,280 $1,024 $10,819
Closing CCA Balance $5,120 $4,096  $93,277

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
$49,245 $50,164 $58,996 $67,221 $85215 $71,625 $54,338 $27,300 $11,146
$22,160 $22,574 $26,548 §$30,249 $38,347  $32,231 $24,452  $12,285 $5,016
$28,655 $35,424 $33,3390 $34,172 $37,337 $37,370 $39,806 $46,917 $47,533
$100,000 $25,000 $25,000 $50,000 $50,000 $25,000 $75,000 §$75,000 $25,000
($44,260) $38,014  $40,787 §$21,143 $34,205 $51,764 ($5,218) ($13,068) 328,664

Weighted Average Cost of Capitai 12.00%

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
$93,277 $164,621 $154,197 $145858 $161,686 $174,349 $161,979 $197,083 §225,167
$100,000 $25,000 $25,000 $50,000 $50,000 $25,000 $75,000 $75,000 $25000
$28,655 $35,424 $33,339 $34,172  $37,337 $37,370 $39,896 $46,917 $47,533
$164,621 $154,197 $145,858 $161,686 $174,349 §$161,979 $197,083 $225167 $202,633



CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR BRAD BROOKS SURVEYING LTD.

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul
SRPR {# of jobs) 2 3 5 9 12 13 11
Retrc't 2 5 8 13 17 22 25
Construct'n 0 0] 0 2 1 2 0
$13,000 $3,000 $4800 $10,200 $16,500

Recovered

Disbursements $0 $0 $230 $578 $1,080 $3,349 $3,787
less;no paids ($1,100) $0  ($1,500) ($500) ($2,600) ($1,800) ($3,400)
GROSS CASH INFLOW $11,900 $3,000 $3,530 $10,278 $14950 $29,149 $51,687
Allocable Wages $3,502 $6,076 $9,216  $11,002 $12,592 $12,152 $13,094
Other Variable $956 $1,612 $3,188 $10,136 $8,657 $10,974  $8,329
Non-Allocable Wages $2,736 $4,726 $4,908 $5,348 $5,722 $4940 %5144
Employee Benefits $2,129 $1,458 $1,915 $2,221 $2,491 $2,323  $2,480
Licenses/Dues $1,340 $0 $0 $200 $0 $0 $0
Insurance $250 $200 $400 $200 $250 $200 $1,750
Capital Purchases $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0  $2,500
Premises $1.108 $1,108 $1,108 $1,108 $1,108 $1,108 $1,108
Promotion $325 $125 $250 $650 $250 $50 $350
Bank & Audit Fees $0 $0 $1,045 $45 $45 $45 $45
Training $70 $250 $200 30 $0 $0 $0
Maintenance $208 $208 $708 $208 $1,208 $708 $708
Administrative $425 $0 $425 $0 $425 $0 $425
Other $0 $0 $1,000 $0 $0 $0 $0
Loan Repayment $850 $850 $850 $850 $850 $850 $850
GST remitted to RevCan  $8,164 $0 $0 $1,290 $0 $0  $3,806
Net Cash {$10,164) ($13,613) (%$21,683) ($22,980) ($18,649) ($4,201) $11,097
Inflow/Outflow
Opening Cash $85,226 $75062 $61,449 $39,767 $16,787 ($1,862) ($6,062)
Transactions (310,164) ($13,613) ($21,683) ($22,980) ($18,649) ($4,201) $11,097
Closing Cash $75062 361,449 $39,767 $16,787  ($1,862) ($6,062) $5,035

Aug
9
28
1

$5,866
($5,200)

$52,866

$11,822
$10,569

$5,696
$2,381
$0
$200
$0
$1,108
$50
$45
$50
$208
$0

$0

$850
$0

$19,886
$5,035

$19,886
$24,921

Sep
7
19
0

$2,495
($3,750)

$61,145

$11,728
$6,126

$5,712
$2,371
$0
$250
$0
$1,108
$300
$45

$0
$208
$425
30

$850
$0

$32,022
$24,921

$32,022
$56,943

Oct
6
14
0

$27,600 $51,300 $52,200 $62,400 $50,100

$3,820
($4,200)

$49,720

$9,486
$4,980

$4,640
$1,915
$0
$200
$0
$1,108
$325
$45
$230
$208
$0

$0

$850
$11,598

$14,134
$56,943

$14,134
$71,077

Nov
4
8
0
$42,300

$1,902
($1,300)

$42,902

$7,440
$2,818

$4,588
$1,626
$0
$250
$0
$1,108
$25
$45
$200
$208
$375
$1,000

$850
$0

$22,368
$71,077

$22,368
$93,445

Dec
1
3
o
$26,400

$1,221
($1,900)

$25,721

$2,038
$931

$3,662
$2,344
$0
$200
$0
$1,108
$250
$45

$0
$208
$0

$0

$849
$0

$14,086
$93,445

$14,086
$107,531



FORM 1 .
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Describe your business and the purpose of this plan.

Summarize your financial requirements and the sources you plan to obtain money from.

Show, in the chart below, the major uses to which you will apply the money once you obtain it.
USAGE AMOUNT APPLIED

If you are looking for outside funding, describe why money should be invested in your business.
Include your expected return on investment in your company and how and when you plan to repay it.
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FORM 2

COMPANY PROFILE

BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS:

TELEPHONE: TYPE OF ORGANIZATION:

REGISTRATIONS AND LICENSES 7
TYPE DATE ISSUED NUMBER

1.
2.
COMPANY MANAGEMENT
NAME POSITION % OF BUSINEES:-
OWNED
1.
3.
COMPANY ADVISORS
NAME AND ADDRESS ROLE % OF BUSINESS
OWNED

ol ol B B
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FORM 3

THE MARKET

SIZE OF MARKET REGIONS (#s units)

SERVICES/ REGION | REGION | REGION | REGION | TOT. OF
(name/group) 1 2 3 4 ALL GROWTH
REGIONS (%/year)

FORM 4

e ——
TRENDS

MAJOR TRENDS PLANNED RESPONSE
1 1.
2 2.
3 3.

FORMS5
POLITICAL AND LEGAL

ISSUE DESCRIPTION FACTOR COMPANY RESPONSE
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FORM 6

COMPETITION

NAME SIZE OF MARKET DESCRIBE

OF COMPANY PRICING POLICY SHARE COMPETITIVE

COMPETITOR (sales in §) (description) (%) ADVANTAGES
1.
2.
3.
4,

FORM 7

e
BARRIERS

BARRIER DESCRIPTION PLANNED RESPONSE
1 1
2 2.
3 3
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FORM 8

TARGET SALES

DOWNTOWN | REGIONAL TARGET TARGET SALES
MARKET SIZE | MARKET SHARE
SERVICE UNITS % OF UNITS UNITS DOLLARS

TOTAL

FORM 9

-
PRICING

LIST OF SERVICES VOLUME CUSTOMER
PRICE(S) PRICE(8)

11



FORM 10 - ~
FUTURE SALES

SALES FORECASTS FOR THE NEXT TWO YEARS (8000s)

OPTIMISTIC PESSIMISTIC MOST LIKELY
SERVICE YEAR ONE YEAR TWO | YEAR ONE YEAR TWO | YEAR ONE YEAR TWO

1.

2.

3.

4.

TOTAL SALES

SELLING EXPENSES

FORM 11
SALES ORGANIZATION |

QUESTIONS PLANNED RESPONSE

1.Number of offices or delivery sites

2.Number of salespersons

3.Number of sales management staff

4 .Average sales per salesperson
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FORM 12 BASIC

CUSTOMER ANALYSIS

BUYING CRITERIA
CUSTOMER GROUP PRIMARY SECONDARY OTHER

bl bl b

FORM 13

Y
MAJOR CUSTOMER GROUP

SALES FORECAST

SALES TO

MAJOR CUSTOMERS LIKELIHOOD

SERVICE CUSTOMER GROUPS (§) YEAR ONE OF SUCCESS
1. 1.
2.
3.
2. 1.
2.
3.
3 1.
2.
3.
4. 1.
2.

3. i
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FORM 14

PROMOTIONAL PROGRAM

METHOD OF PLAN TO
PROMOTION USE DESCRIPTION

Point of purchase display

Brochures

Discounts

Coupons

FORM 15

e
ADVERTISING PROGRAM

ADVERTISING PRIMARY
SERVICE ‘OBJECTIVES ADVERTISING METHODS

1,

2.

3.
4.

FORM 16

PROMOTIONAL AND ADVERTISING BUGET

NEXT TWO YEARS (8’s)
DESCRIPTION YEAR ONE _ YEAR TWO

TOTAL
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FORM 17

FACILITIES

YEAR ONE

YEAR TWO

FACILITY
ONE

FACILITY
TWO

TOTAL
COSTS

TOTAL
COSTS

OWNED OR LEASED:
LEASING COSTS:
LEASEHOLD
IMPROVEMENTS:

(capital cost)

FURNITURE & FIXTURES:
(capital cost)

UTILITIES:

TELEPHONE:
INSURANCE:

OFFICE SUPPLIES:
TOTAL:

INCLUDING: CAPITAL COSTS
EXPENSES:

FORM 18

-
EQUIPMENT

LIST EQUIPMENT REQUIRED

COST

RATIONALE YEAR ONE YEAR TWO

FORM 19

N
SUPPLIES

~ LIST EQUIPMENT REQUIRED

COST

RATIONALE YEAR ONE YEAR TWO
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FORM 20

EMPLOYEE PLAN

NO. OF PEOPLE
JOB TITLE FUNCTIONS YEAR ONE YEARTWO |
TOTAL STAFF
FORM 21

-
ORGANIZATION CHART

FORM 22

COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS

JOB TITLE

SALARY OR
HOURLY

COMPENSATION
PER POSITION

BENEFITS*

YEAR ONE
TOTAL

YEAR TWO
TOTAL

* Including car allowance

116




FORM 23

- "
INCOME STATEMENT

YEAR ONE YEAR TWO

a) SALES
b) DIRECT EXPENSES
¢) SALES EXPENSES
d) ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES
e) DEPRECIATION
INTEREST EXPENSE
PROFIT BEFORE TAX

f) TAXES PAYABLE

NET INCOME AFTER TAX




FORM 24

e
CASH FLOW STATEMENT

MONTHLY CASH INLOW AND OUTFLOW (8000S) YEAR ONE
ITEM JAN. FEB. MAR. APR. MAY JUNE JULY | AUG. SEPT, OCT. NOV. DEC.
Cash Received

Investment
Equity Source
Total Cash In

Lease

Leasehold

| Improvements
Furniture &
Fixtures
Equipment

_fturchased

Supplies
Advertising &
Promotion
Office
 Expenses

| Wages
Salaries

Interest Expense

(Taxes
Lang Term Debt

Repayment
Total Cash Qut
\Surplus (Deficit),




FORM 25

PROJECTED BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS

YEAR ONE

YEAR TWO

CURRENT

CASH (a)

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (b)

INVENTORY (c)

OTHER

FIXED

AT COST (d)

(LESS DEPRECIATION) (e)

NET FIXED ASSETS (f)

OTHER (g)

TANGIBLE

INTANGIBLE

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

YEAR ONE

YEAR TWO

CURRENT

SHORT-TERM DEBT (h)

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE (i)

LONG TERM DEBT (h)

DEFERRED TAXES (j)

TOTAL LIABILITIES

OWNERS/SHAREHOLDERS CAPITAL (k)

RETAINED EARNINGS (1)

TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Letters (a) to Q) indicate references to help prepare the balance sheet, which aré found on pages 38, 40 and 42.




FORM 26

FIXED ASSETS

FIXED PURCHASE ! SOURCE OF REASONS FOR
ASSET DATE (m/y) COST FUNDS' PURCHASE
ADDITIONAL DETAILS:
1 Identify name of lending institution if debt incurred, “retained earnipgs“. or equity sources,
FORM 27

]
DEPRECIATION SCHEDULE

TYPE OF ASSET ANNUAL DEPRECIATION RATE

LAND

BUILDINGS

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
OFFICE EQUIPMENT
OTHER:




FORM 28

DEBT SUMMARY

NAME AMOUNT OF | INTEREST RATE DESCRIBE TERM
REF. OF BANK/ AVAILABLE (%) and DATE SECURITY (Short,
NO. INVESTOR CREDIT (§) (m/y) FOR LOAN Long)
1.
2.
GRAND TOTALS

FORM 29

-
LOAN BALANCES

LENDING INSTITUTION (Interest Rate)

PRINCIPAL OUTSTANDING AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR 1 A

YEAR 1 PRINCIPAL
REPAYMENT B

INTEREST EXPENSE
YEAR 1 Ax_ %

PRINCIPAL OUTSTANDING AT
BEGINNING OFYEAR2Z2 A-B

YEAR 2 PRINCIPAL
REPAYMENT

INTEREST EXPENSE
YEAR 2 (A-B)x %
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FORM 30

S
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

FINANCIAL RATIO (Formula) YEAR ONE | YEARTWO !

RETURN ON INVESTMENT (%)
(net income after tax/total equity x 100)

NET PROFIT TO SALES (%)
{(net income after tax/sales x 100)

CURRENT RATIO
(current assets/current liabilities)

AVERAGE AGE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (days)
(365 x avg. accounts receivable/sales)

AVERAGE AGE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE (days) (365 x [
avg. accounts pavable/cost of direct materials) :

AVERAGE AGE OF INVENTORY (days)
(365 x avg. inventory/cost of direct materials)

DEBT TO EQUITY RATIO
(total liabs./total equity)

|

|

|

INTEREST COVERAGE RATIO (net income before I
deducting interest and tax/interest payments) |
I

{

f

i

SALES GROWTH (%)
(sales increase/prev. sales x 100)

PROFIT GROWTH (%)
(profit increase/prev. profit x 100)

ASSET GROWTH (%) - < !
(asset increase/ prev. assets x 100)

FIXED COST PERCENTAGE (%) ; 1|
(fixed costs/total costs x 100) !

VARIABLE COST PERCENTAGE (%) !
(variable costs/total costs x 100) I
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FORM 31

LONG RANGE PLANNING

CORPORATE GOALS AND OBJECTIVES:

MAJOR MILESTONES:

ADDITIONAL MANAGEMENT, PRODUCTION OR MARKETING SKILLS REQUIRED:

OTHER ASSISTANCE (NON FINANCIAL) REQUIRED:




BUSINESS & THE LAW



CONTRACTS

Brad has to hire a mapping consultant and 2 independent cutters before signing the

client's contract. What must he consider in drafting a contract ?

The most commonly encountered contractual documents for a surveyor are;




A unique variation to the common contractual relationship is the Standing Offer or

Occasional Services Contract. The key features are:

It was suggested that this seminar should provide a standard contract for survey services.
The general consumer will probably sign this form as a matter of course. They have been
enured by signing for everything. | ﬁnd.business clients are of 2 minds. They are either
loathe to sign anything that looks like it was prepared by a lawyer, or they insist you sign
a contract prepared by their lawyer. Governments will dictate the form of contract to be
signed and the terms and conditions for payment. The best you can hope for is that their
contract references your proposal thereby including your detailed explanation of the

Scope of Work.

We have included a draft of a possible contract style. However | suggest you will get
more willing signatures by preparing a polished proposal that subtley includes all of the

key contract terms.



AGREEMENT
FOR
PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYING SERVICES

This sample Agreement has been prepared by TSPS Legal Counsel as a guide for attorneys representing TSPS members. It is not
intended to take the place of individual legal advice. The use of this form by a TSPS member automatically releases the Society

Jrom any liability related 1o such use.

This agreement is made and entered into between (Surveyor) and

(Client) effective this day of , 19

Client and Surveyor agree as follows:

L.

Services Performed By Survevor. Surveyor agrees to perform the services set forth on Exhibit "A" attached hereto and
incorporated herein by this referece ("services").

Compensation By Client. Client agrees to compensate Surveyor for said services according to the schedule of payments
attached hereto as Exhibit "B" and incorporated herein by this reference ("schedule™).

Property. The property upon which the services hereinafter described are to be performed is located at

Assessors Parcel No. ("the property").

Documents Provided By Client. - Client agrees to provide Surveyor with any and all documents necessary to identify the
ownership, location and condition of the propetty to be surveyed, including, but not limited to, deeds, maps, title informa-
tion, and permits; and to obtain for Surveyor the authorization of the owner to enter upon the property for the purpose of
conducting Surveyor's work thereon.

Ownership of Work Product. Client acknowledges that all original papers, documents, maps, surveys, and other work
product of Surveyor, and copies thereof, produced by Surveyor pursuant to this Agreement, except documents which are
required to be filed with public agencies, shall remain the property of Surveyor and the Surveyor has the unrestricted
right to use any such work product for any purpose whatsoever without the consent of Client. Client further acknowledges
that Client's right to utilize the services and work product performed pursuant to this Agreement will continue only so
long as Client is not in default pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and Client has performed all
obligations under this Agreement.

Use of Work Product. Client agrees not to use or permit any other person to use maps, exhibits, legal descriptions,
surveys, or other work product ("work product™) prepared by Surveyor, except for the foliowing purpose:

Client further agrees that the work product prepared by Surveyor may not be altered or reproduced in any way nor used
on any other project or for any purpose other than as specifically authorized herein by Surveyor. Surveyor agrees to
provide copies of the work product enumerated below to Client as follows:

Copyright. The parties agree that all protections of the United States and Texas copyright laws shall be applicable to the
work product to the benefit of Surveyor, including common law and statutory law, whether or not such work product
actually is so copyrighted, and without regard to whether or not such copyright actually applies to such work product.

The Texas Surveyor/May 1994 126
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11.

12.

14,

15.

16.

17.

18.

Page 20

AGREEMENT
FOR
PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYING SERVICES

(continued)

Billing. All fees and other charges attributable to this Agreement will be billed by Surveyor monthly and shall be due
and payable by Client at the time of biiling at the address of Surveyor listed below unless otherwise specified in this
Agreement.

Suspension_or Termination of Performance. In addition to any other rights Surveyor may have for default of Client, if
Client fails to pay Surveyor within thiry (30) days afier invoices are rendered, Client agrees Surveyor shall have the right
to consider such default in payment a material breach of this Agreement, and, upon written notice, the duties, obligations,
and responsibilities of Surveyor under this Agreement may be suspended or terminated at Surveyor's sole option.

Additional Services. Client agrees that if services not specified in this Agreement are provided at Client's request, Client
shall timely pay for all such services as extra work at the rates set forth in Exhibit "C" attached hereto and by this reference
incorportated herein.

Payment.of Casts. Client shall pay all costs, such as transportation expenses, zoning application fees, blueprint and
reproduction costs, aerial topography fees, etc., unless otherwise expressly agreed herein by the parties.

DRelays. Surveyor is not responsible for delay caused by activities or factors beyond Surveyor's control, including but not
limited to, delays caused by strikes, lockouts, work slowdowns or stoppages, accidents, acts of nature, failure of Client to
timely furnish information or approve or disaprove Surveyor's work, or fauity performance by Client or others, including
contractors and governmental agencies.

Attomey's Fees. If Client or Surveyor is a prevailing party in any legal proceeding brought under or with relation to this
Agreement, such party shall be entitled to recover from the non-prevailing party ail costs of such proceeding and reasonable
attorney's fees.

Arbitration. All claims, disputes, and other matters in question arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be
submitted to binding arbitration and the parties hereto agree to execute and/or obtain the execution of all documents as may
be necessary to submit such matters to arbitration. Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, said arbitration shall be in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the American Arbitration Association.

Contractual Lien to Secure Payment. Client grants to Surveyor a contractual lien in addition to all constitutional, statutory,
and equitable liens that may exist, on the property and all improvements thereon to secure payment of all compensation due
Surveyor by Client as provided herein. Client grants Surveyor the authority and right to file a copy of this Agreement in the
Records of the County where the property is located to give notice of Surveyor's lien rights.

Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of Texas.

Entire Agreement of Partics. This contract contains the entire agreement of the parties and cannot be changed except by
their written agreement.

Snecial Provisions.

The Texas Surveyor/May 1994



CLIENT SURVEYOR

By
Title Title
Address Address
City State City State
Telephone Telephone
Facsimile Facsimile
EXHIBIT A

(May be included with contract)

This Exhibit may include:

certifications

detailed scope of service
accuracy standards

time for performance

number of prints

format of the funished product
etc.

ooodoooo

Sealed Document Notation

It appears that the unauthorized reproduction and use of sealed documents continues to be a problem in the marketplace. It has
been suggested that TSPS should draft a "Note" for inclusion on the original sealed document which might deter this practice.
The following are three (3) samples that you may wish to consider: (Note - these samples are only guidelines that are suggested
Sor use.)

L This plat should be assumed to contain unauthorized alterations unless it contains an impression seal and original
signature. The certification contained on this document shall not apply to any copies.

1L Only those prints containing the raised Surveyor's seal should be considered official and relied upon by the user. This
document is prepared specifically for the parties designated hereon. Modification, alteration, duplication, or use without the
consent of is prohibited. ~ Copyright 1994 . All rights reserved.

This plat should be assumed to be invalid unless it bears an original "LIVE" signature. The certification shown hereon
does not apply to any copies.

The Texas Surveyor/May 1994
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SUB-CONSULTANT AGREEMENT
(STUDIES/REPORTS)

File Number: _
Date:
BETWEEN:
Sub-Consultant: {(*Sub”)
-and-

Consuttant: (‘Consuttant")
Client: ("Client)
Project Name: . . . ("Project*)
Project Location : (*Project’)
Consultant Address: Sub Address:
Consultant Telephone: (416) Sub Telephone: (416)

Fax: (416) | Fax: 416)
Consultant Contact Person: Sub Contact Person:
Commencement Date: ‘ Compietion Date;

DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES: In accordance with (check ¥ as appropriate)

[xJ Letter(s) dated attached as Schedule(s) A
[ ] Proposal(s) dated A attached as Schedute(s)

[ 1 Terms of Reference dated attached as Schedule

{ 1 Request for Proposal dated attached as Schedule

[ ] Other: 7 attached as Schedule(s)

FEES/REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES: In accordance with (check v as appropriate)

X} Letter{s) dated __attached as Schedule(s) A

[ 1 Proposal(s) dated attached as Schedule(s)

[ 1 Terms of Reference dated ‘ attached as Schedule

[ ] Request for Proposal dated , 7 attached as Schedule

[ ] Other: attached as Schedule(s)

FEE BASIS: [ Time Basis { ] Lump Sum
e Total Estimate of Fees: $- (A} e Total Estimate of Reimbursable Expenses: $ (B)
¢ Total Estimate of Fees and Reimbursable Expenses: $ | (A)+(B)
& Reimbursable Expenses at cost plus 5 % administrative fees,

£.5.7 will be in addition to these fees.
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INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS: (check v as appropriate)
{ ] ComprehensiveGeneral ................... -
[ 1 Automobile ...........
[ ] Professionat Liability e
{ ] Other

@ H ¢ A

ADDITIONAL OR SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS: In accordance with {check v as appropriate)

[ ] Prime Agreement (or excerpts thereof} dated attached as Schedule(s) .

[1 Letter(s) dated attached as Schedule(s) .
{ ] Proposal(s) dated attached as Schedule(s)

{ ] Terms of Reference dated attached as Schedule

{ ] Request for Proposal dated attached as Schedule

[ ] Other: _ attached as Schedule(s)

TERMS AND COND(TIONS

ARTICLE 1. DEFINITIONS

1.1 Agreement - is this Sub-Consultant Agreement including any schedules that may be annexed hereto.

1.2 Client - shall mean the party or parties hereinabove described whe may have engaged the Consultant for protessional services.

1.3 Client's Consultants - shall mean those professional persons ot firms providing profassional services, or other parties, engaged by the Client
directly or indirectly as consultants or as sub-consultants in connection with the Project, but doss not include the Consultant as defined herein.

1.4 Commencement Date - is the date when the Services shall commence and the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall apply as of that
date and whether or not this Agreement is executed after that date.

1.5 Completion Date - is the date by which the Services will be completed in accordance with this Agreement and is certified completed by the
Consultant.

1.6 Sub-Consultant or Sub - shall mean the previder of the Services as hereinabove identified engaged directly by the Consultant

1.7 Consultant - shall mean the parly hereinabove described that is engaged by the Client directly for professional senvices in connection with the
Project

1.8 Lump Sum - whenever the Sub-Consultant's Fees are calculated on the basis of a Lump Sum, it is the limit of the amount that will be due and

payable to the Sub-Consultant which includes Reimbursable Expenses unless otherwise expressly stated, and will not be exceedad except upon
written consent of the Consultant

1.9 Project - shall mean the project as described by name and location above for which the Consultant and Sub-Consuliant are retained to perform
the Services.

1.10 Prime Agreement - shall mean the agreement between the Client and the Censuitant for the Project

1.11 Time Basis - shall mean the Sub-Consultant's rates, whether hourty, daily or otherwise for the performance of the Services as described
hereinabove and which will not be amended or revised except upen written notice and consent of the Consultant

112 Total Estimate of Fees, Total Estimate of Reimbursable Expenses and Total Estimate of Fees and Reimbursable Expanses - represent estimated

amounts to complete the Services as described herein and are net of all taxes that may be levied therson and may not be exceeded except
upon writtan notice and consent of the Consutitant

ARTICLE 2. THE SUB-CONSULTANT'S DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES TO THE CONSULTANT
THE SUB-CONSULTANT SHALL:

2.1 Perform services for the Project (the *Services®) as stated under *Description of Services® hersinabove and employ only skilled and competent
staff thereon;

2.2 Render Services to the Consuliant under this Agreement with that degree of care, skill and diligence normally pravided in the performance of
Servicas in respect of Projects of a similar nature to that contemplated by this Agreement at the ime and place that such Services are rendered;
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2.3
24

2.5

26

27

2.8

Prepare estimates of the cost and time to pertorm the Services;

Coordinate its Services with the fequirements of the Cansultant as wall as with the Client's Consultants and othera on the Project and
perform its Services at such times in such manner as the Consuliant shall direct to permit the Consultart to comply with the Prime Agreem.....,

Unless otherwise expressly stated in the scope of Services, comply and observe all laws, rules and regulations, including, but not limited to,
the procurement of permits, certificates and approvals from appropriate authorities when required to enable the Sub-Consuttant to perform the
Services, whether for environmental purposes or otherwise and indemnify the Consultant, its officers, directors, employees, and agents, jointly
and severally from and against any claims, prosecutions, or damages (including legal taes) that may be sustained by the Consultant by reasen
of the failure of the Sub-Consultant to eomply with these duties;

Make changes in the Services to be provided for the Project when requested in writing by the Consultant, and prior to commencing such
changes, advise and obtain written approval from the Consultant of any effects of the changes on the Sub-Consuitant fees, ims schedule, and
other matters concerning the Project;

Upon request, submit to the Consultant for approval, the names, addresses, qualifications and experience and proposed rojes of all persons,

including principals, to be employed by the Sub-Consultant to provide the Services for the Project and any proposed changes shall be submitted
to the Consuttant far approval.

Upon request by the Consuitant, provide the Consuttant with a written report showing the portion of the Services completed in the preceding
month or preceding four weoks. :

ARTICLE 3. THE CONSULTANT'S DUTIES AND hESPONSIB]LmES TO THE SUB-CONSULTANT
THE CONSULTANT SHALL:

3.3

3.2

33

3.4

3.5

3.7

tMake available to the Sub-Consultant all televant information ot data pertinent to the Project of which the Consultant or its servants or agents
should bs aware and instruct the Sub-Consultant fully in writing as to the Consultant's total requirements in connection with the Project to enable
the Sub-Consultant 1o carry out its Senvices hereunder;

Give prompt consideration to alf sketches, drawings, specifications, tenders, proposals, contracts and other documents refating to the Project
submitted by the Sub-Consultant, and whenever prompt action is necessary, inform the Sub-Consultant of decisions in such reasenable time
50 as not to delay the Services of the Sub-Consuttant;

Pay the Sub-Consultant's fees and Reimbursable Expenses, i applicabls, pursuant to Article 4;

Designate in writing an individual to act as lisison representative, such person to have complete and exclusive authority to transmit instructions
to and receive information from the Consultant;

Give prompt written Notice to the Sub-Consultant whenever the Client, the Consultant or its representative becomes aware of any detec
deficiencies in the Services which fall within the duties and reapansibilities of the Sub-Consultant in this Agreament;

Arrange and make provision for the Sub-Consultant's entry and ready access to property (public and private) as well as to the Project Location,
as necessary to enable the Sub-Consultant to perform the Services.

ARTICLE 4. PAYMENT OF FEES

4.1

Unless otherwise expressly agreed to, the payment by the Consultant for the Senvices provided by the Sub-Consultant shall be on a Time Basis
or Lump Sum as those terms are defined herein, or a combination thereof, all as indicated above and shall be subject to the following conditions:

(8) Invoices: The Sub-Consultant shell submitto the Consultant an invoice every four weeks for the Services provided and for the Reimbursable
Expenses incurred by the Sub-Consultant during the previous four weeks (‘lnvoice”). Such Invoices shall be accompanied by such
supporting vouchers as may reasonably be required by the Consuitant When approved fof payment by the Conasultant the Sub-
Consultant's invoices will bs included in the Consuitant's next billing to the Client Payment to the Sub-Consuitant is subject to the
Consultant receiving paymaent from the Client and will be made to the Sub-Consultant with ten (10) days of the Consultantreceiving payment
from the Clisnt The Consultant may require the Sub-Consultant to provide the Consultant with a clearance certificate indicating that the
Sub-Consultantis in good standing with the Workers' Compensation Board appiicabie, if any, in the jurisdiction governing this Agreement,
priof to making payment to the Sub-Consultant and, the Sub-Consultant agrees 10 indemnify the Consuftant for payment of any unpaid
assessments and levies or for any other amounts to such Board required to be made by the Sub-Consultant The Sub-Consultant shall
not be entitfed to payment in respect of costs and expenses incurred by the Client andfor Consultant in remedying errors and omissions
in the Services that are attibutable to the Sub-Consuitant, its servants or agents, or sub-consuitants, or persons for whom the Sub-
Consultant had assumed reaponsibility in performing the Services,

{b} Reimbursable Expanses: The Sub-Consuftant shall be entitted to reimbursement by the Consultant for expenses incurred in the parformance

of its Services {or the Project at cost plus the percantage stated above and shall include the following provided same have been approved
in advance by the Client: ‘

() Reproduction of drawings and documents for reports and for regulatory agencies and utility companies:
(i} Reasonable travel expanses;

(it Communication expenaes such as telegrams, telex charges, telefax, long distance telephone calls and freight on drawings, documents,
and equipment;

(iv} Reasonable living expenses:;

(v} Advertising expenses incidental to the Project;
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(v} Fees and expenses of eny specialist sub-consultants when retained by the Sub-Consultant with the approval of the Consultant;

{vi) Rental costs of, if approved by the Consultant, the purchase cost of specialized equipment of a kind not nermally rented or owned
by the Sub-Consultant;

(vii} Computer, printing and photocopying services;

(iX) Laboratory services;

{x} The expense cf increased or special nature insurance policies, that may be required to be maintained at the request of the Client;
(x) Fees paid for securing approvals, permits or licenses from regulatory agenties having jurisdiction over the Project; and

{(xi) Any other expenses reasonably incusred by the Sub-Consultant to cesry out its duties under this Agreement.

The Consulant is entitied to copies of any vouchers, recelpts of supporting documentation supporting the Reimbursable Expenses,

{c) The Sub-Consuitant may be required at the request of the Consuitant to prepare or appear in legal procesdings, arbitration o other hearings
on behalt of the Consultant provided the Sub-Consultant is compensated therefor on & basis to ba determined at that time.

(d) All Invoices shall be deliveted to the address as set out above, unless otherwise expressly agreed to, or to such cther address as the
Consultant may from time to time designate in writing t¢ the Sub-Consultant

(e) The Sub-Consultant shall maintain or cause to be maintained any and all records, books or other documents relative to its Services,
additional services, extrawork, cost or expense including ime sheets and costrecords, alleged breaches of agreaement, setlement of claims,
or any other matter involving the Sub-Censultant's compensation, and if required for the purposes of the Agreement shall make these
documents available at reasonable times to the Consuitant and Client and/or their duly authorized representative to examine, review and
audit same and who may make copies and take exiracts therefrom.

{h The Sub-Consuitant shall atferd facilities for audit and inspection at mutually agreaable times and places, and shall provide the Consultant
and the Client with such infarmation as the Client may from time to time require with reference to the documents referred to in Section 4.1(e).

lg) The Sub-Consuftant shall, unless otherwise specified, keep the documents referred to in Section 4.1(e) available for audit and inspaction
for a period of at least two years following completion of the Services.

ARTICLE 5. CHANGES, ADDTIONAL SERVICES AND EXTRA COSTS

S.1.

5.2

Should:

() it become necessary for the Sub-Consultant to revise its designs, drawings, plans, study methods or specifications for the Project or any
part thereof; of

(i) perform additional services or is put to any extra work, cost of expenses,

by reason of any act or matter over which the Sub-Consuliant has no contred, including, withotrt limiting the generality of the foregoing, delays
by the Client or Consultant in furnishing information, instructions or decisions, or by the imposition of any taxes from governmental autherities,
the Sub-Consultant shall be compensated for such changes, additional services or extra waork, cost or expense on a basis to be determined
at that time, unless otherwise expressly agreed to between the parties. Before making such changes, performing such additional services ot
undertaking such extra work er incurring such extra cosis ot expenses in any significant manner, the Sub-Consultant shalt notify the Consuiltant
in wriing of its intention to do so and, unless the Consultart approves same in writing the Sub-Consultant shall not be compensated as

contemplated herein. If approved, the Sub-Consuitant shall keep separate cost records in respect of such changes, additional extra work, or
oxtra costs and expenses.

Without the consent in writing of the Consuttant, the Sub-Consuitant may not at any time after the execution of the Agreement or the
Commencement Date, vary or alter the Services to extend or increase the Services or delete, reduce or decrease the Safvices,

ARTICLE 6. TERMINATION AND SUSPENSION

6.1

If:

() the Client or Consuitant is prohibited from performing the Services in whole or in part, by order of governmental authorities or agencies or
a court of competent jucisdiction, or by statutes or regulations thereto;

(i} the Client is unwilling or unable to proceed with the Project; or

(i) the Consuitant's Services are suspended by the Client at any time for more than sixty (80) days through no fault of the Consultant or Sub-
Consultant;

then the Consuttant may, without imiting any other right or remedy it may bave, by writtan notice to the Sub-Consuftant, terminate this Agreement
and the Sub-Consuitant shall cease performance of any further Services forthwith withoutineurring any liability whatsosver o the Sub-Consuttant
The Sub-Consuttant shall be paid by the Consultant for all Services performed and for all Reimbursable Expernses incurred pursuant to Article

4.1(a} and remaining unpaid as of the effective date of such termination and the Sub-Consultant shall release and discharge the Consultant from
any claims it may or hereatter may have against the Consultant.

(8) The Consuftant may take ail or any part of the Services out of the Sub-Consultant's hands and may employ such means as the Consultant
soes fit to completa such Services in the event that;
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{i the Sub-Consultant becomes bankrupt or insofvent, or areceiving order is macde against the Sub-Consuitant, or an assignmentis made
for the benefit of the creditors, or if any order is made, of resolution passed, for the winding up of the Sub-Consultant's affaiy
business, or f the Sub-Consultant takes the benefit of any statute reiating to bankrupt or inscivent debtors, or

(i the Sub-Consultant fails 1o perform o is in default of any of the Sub-Conauttant's obligations and performance under the Agreement
of, in the Consultant’s opinion, so fails to make progress as to endanger performance of the Agreement, in accordance with its terms.

{b} Y the Services or any part thereof have been taken out of the Sub-Consultant's hands under Section 6.2(a). the Sub-Consultant shall be
liable for, and upon demand pay to the Consultant. an amount equat to il icss and damage suffered by the Consultant or the Client by
reason of the non-completion of the Services by the Sub-Consultant

{c) ¥ the Sub-Consultant fails to pay on demand for the loss or damage mentioned in 6.2(b) above, the Consultant shall be entitied to deduct
same from any payments due and payable to the Sub-Consultant

{d) The taking of the Services, or any part theraof, out of the Sub-Consultant's hands does not relieve or discharge the Sub-Consultant from
any cbligaton under the Agresment, or imposed upon the Sub-Consultant by law, in reapect of the Services or any part thereof that the
Sub-Consultant has performed.

ARTICLE 7. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

7.1

72

7.3

7.4

The Sub-Consuttant shall indemnily, detend and held harmless the Consultant of and from any and all suits, actions, legal, administative or
erbitration proceedings, claims, demands, damages, penalties, fines, losses, costs and expenses of whatsoever kind or character, or any claims
against the Consultant arising or alleged to arise from the acts or omissions of the Sub-Consultant or based upon, occasioned by or attributable
to, any injury, infringement of any patant or invention or of any other type of intallactual property from the performance of the Services of the
Sub-Consultant, its servants or agents, or persons for whom it had sssumed responsibility in the periormance, or purported performance of
the Services hereunder. Such indemnification shall apply to the fullest extent permitted by law, regardiess of fault, negligence or breach of
warranty or confract of the Sub-Consultant and shall include the fees and charges of lawyers in defsnding or advising the Consultant and ahall
survive the termination of this Agreament. Without limiting the generelity of the foregeing, such indemnity shall extend to claims which arise out
of the actusl or threatened disbursal, discharge, escape, release or saturation (whether sudden or gradual) of any pollutant or hazardous waste

in or into the atmosphere, or on, onto, tupon, in or into the surface or subsuriace soils of water or water courses, parsons, objects or any other
tangible matter.

(8) Itis acknowledged and agread by the Sub-Consultant and the Consuitant that the Consultant does not represent itself to be and is natin
any way knowledgeabile or expert regarding pollutants and hazardous waste matters. If the Sub-Consuitant’s Services involve, directly or
indirectly, such.matters, il is the Sub-Consultant's responsibility prior to the Commencemaent Date, to disclose to the Consultant that it is
of is not an expert in such matters, and, the Sub-Consultant may be required by the Consuttamt to identify an expert in poliutants and
hazardous wasts matters (the *Spaciaiist Consultants®), and such Specialist Consultants shall be engaged dirsctly by the Sub-Const
for the Project unlass otherwise expressly agreed to by the Consultant.

(b} The Consultant shall have no liability to the Sub-Consultant for any reviews, approvals or inspections by the Sub-Consultest or its Spacialist
Consultants of any aspect of the Project, including but not limited to, the Documents as defined in Article 8.1, and specifically shall not be
responsible ot liable for the quality, workability or performance of any design or specifications as they relate to pollutants or hazardous
wastes recommended or reviewed by the Sub-Consultant ¢r its Specialist Consultants.

(¢} Nething herein shall relieve the Sub-Consultant from its obligations to provide the Services required by this Agresment, and generally as
required by standard cansuling practice current as of the date of performance of the Services, and nothing herein shall apply to claims,
damages, losses or expenses which are finally determinad at law to result from the Sub-Consuitant's intentionally wrongful acts.

For all purposes of this Article, pollutants and hazardous wastes shall mean any solld, liquid, gaseous or thermal iritant, contaminant or
radioactive substance, including, without limitation, smoke, vapour, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, chemicals, waste, any product, materiad or process
containing ashestos and pollutants and hazardous wastes as those terms are defined in any federal, provincial or mudicipal laws.

Unless expressly waived by the Conauitant, the Sub-Consuttant shall maintain the policies of insurance as described hereinabove atits own cost
and expense:

(s) Comprehensive General Liability Insurance for a limit of not less than the emount stated hereinabove inclusive per occurrence for bodily
injury, personal injury, death and damage to property including losa of use therscf;

(b} Automobile Liability Insurance for both owned and non-owned licansed vehicies for a limit of not less than the amount stated hereinabove
inclusive per occutrence for bodily injury, death and damage to property including accident benefits;

{¢) Professional Uability Insurance for a limit of not less than the amount stated hereinabove covering all loss or damage which may oceur
arising out of the eirors of omissions alleged to have been committed by the Sub-Consultant in .connection with the performance of the
Services hereunder whather or not such Services have been approved of accepted by the Consultant.

Caertificates of the Sub-Consultant’s insurance policies must be provided to the Consuitant before the Commencement Date. If the Client
requests to have the amount of coverage increased or to obtain other special insurance for the Services for the Project, then the Sub-Censultant
shall endaeavour to obtain such increassd or spacial insurance, # available, st tha Cllent's expenss in accordance with Article 4.1(b}(x). The Sub-
Consuitant shall have the required insurance policies amended to inciude the Consultant as an additional named insured, and shali not in any

way, amend, change of cancel such insurance until thirty (30) days after written notice of such changes or cancellations has been delive:y
the Consutant )
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ARTICLE 8. OWNERSHIP AND USE OF DOCUMENTS, PATENTS AND TRADEMARKS

1

8.2

8.3.

Unless otherwise expressty stated hetein, all drawings, plans, models, designs, specifications, reports, photographs, computer software, surveys,
calculations, and other data or documents. including computer printouts regardless of the form or media in which they are produced or
reproduced, or which are otherwise used in connection with the Project (the "Documents®), and which are prepared by the Sub-Coneuttant shall
be the property of the Consultant free of all claims by the Sub-Consultant of any nature and kind whatsoever, whather of not the Project is
commenced or completed, and the Consultant reserves the copyright therein, and they are not to be used on any other project withott the prier

written consent of the Consultant. The Client and Sub-Consultant are entitled to a copy of the Documents for record and maintenance purposes
only in connection with the Project.

All concepts, products or processes produced by of resulting from the Sarvices rendered by the Sub-Consultantin connection with the Projact,
or which are otherwise developed or firstreduced to practice by the Sub-Consultant or by its sub-consultants in the performance of their services
in connaction with the Project, and which are patentable, capable of rademark or otherwise, shall be and remain the property of the Sub-
Consultant. and its sub-consultants, and other than as horeinaiter set forth in Article 8.3 the Client and Consultant shall not use, infringe upan
or appropriate such concepts, products or processes without the express written consent of the Sub-Consultant

Unless otherwise stated herein, the Client and Consultant shalf have a permanent non-exclusive royalty-free licence to use any concept, product
or process, which is patentable, capable of trademark or otherwise, produced by or resulting from the Services rendered by the Sub-Consuttant
or by its sub-consultants in connection with the Project, for the fife of the Project, and for no other purpese of Project

ARTICLE 8. BUILDING CODES, BY-LAWS AND STATUTES

9.1

The Sub-Consultart shall, to the best of its ability, interpret relevant statutes, building codes and by-laws as they apply to the Services and the
Project, but it is expressly acknowledged and agreed by the Consultant that as the Project progresses, the interpretation by public authorities
may differ from the interpretation of the Sub-Consultant, through ne fauh of the Sub-Cansultant, and any extra ¢osts necessary to conform to
the interpretation placed upon same ¢or to conform to changes of differences in interpretation by such authorities, will be paid by the Consultant,

in agcordance with Article 4.1(a), provided the Sub-Consultant has received a prior approval or authorization from such authorities in respect
of such interpretations.

ARTICLE 10. ARBITRATION

10.1

10.2

3

All matters in dispute under this Agreement may, with the concurrence of both the Consuttant and Sub-Consuttant, be submitted to arbitration
by a single Arbitrator appointed jointly by them, which shall be governed by the arbitration laws of the Consultant's Address stated above.

No one shall be nominated to act as an Arbitrator who is in any way financially interested in the conduct of the Project or in the business affairs
of either the Consultant or Sub-Consultant.

The award of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the parties.

ARTICLE 11. NOTICES

11.1

11.2

Any notice to be given pursuant to this Agreement, tnless otherwise expressly provided herein, shall be duly and properly made and givenin
writing by telefax, personal service, registered or certified mail using the Postal Service facilities available in the location of the Sut-Consuttant
and Consuitant address noted above to the address of the party for whom it is intended as set out above or to such other addresses as the
parties may from time to time designate in writing. Mailed notices shall be deemed to have been received forty eight (48) hours after the hour
of mailing. Notices by personal service or telefax shall be deemed to be received on the day they are delivered or transmitted.

Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 11.1, in the event that any notice has been mailed pursuant to Article 11.1 and:
(a) atthe ime of mailing the Postal Service was in a state of interruption due to strike, lockout or other similar occurrence, or
{b) within the forty-eight hour period referred to Article 11,1, the Postal Service becomes interrupted by any of the causes aforesaid,

such notice will not be deemed to have been mailed or received until seven (7) days after termination of such state of interruption.

ARTICLE 12. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

12.1

The Sub-Consultant shall perform all Senvices hereunder as an independent contractor, and nothing contained herein shall be deemed to create
any association, partnership, joint venture or relationship or principal agent or empicyer and employee batween the parties hereto or any affiliates
or subsidiaries thereof, or to provide either party with the right, power, or authority, whether expressed or implied, to create any such duty or
obligation on behaif of the party. The Sub-Consultant agrees that any work prepared by the Sub-Consultant under this Agreement shall be
considered *work for hire® unless otherwise specified. Unless otherwise expressly agreed to in advance by the Consuitant, the Sub-Consuitant
will not hold itself out as an affiliate of, of partner, joint venturer, co-principal or co-employer with the Consultant or any of the Consultant’s
subsidiaries or affiliates by reason of this Agreement and that the Sub-Consultant will not knowingly permit any of its employess, agents er
representatives to hold themselves out as, or claimed to be, officers or employees of the Consultant or any of the Consultant's subsidiasies or
affiliates by reason of this Agreement. (n the event the Consultant is adjudicated to be a partner, joint venturer, co-principal or co-employer of
or with the Sub-Consultant, the Sub-Consuttant shall indemnify and hold harmiess the Consuhiant from and against any and all claims for loss,

liability or damages erising therefrom. The Sub-Consultant, when acting as an employer, agrees to be solely responsible for any and all
payments and deductions required to be made by law for its employees.

ARTICLE 13, CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

13.1

The Sub-Consultart acknowiedges and agrees that all Lahgible and intangible information, including but not limited 1o, Fade sscrets and methads
of operation, revealed, obtained, or developed in the course of or in connection with the performance of Services under this Agreement shall
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13.2

13.3

ARTICLE
14.1

14.2

14.3.

14.5
-14.6

14.7

14.8

14.9

14.10

14.11

be considered as confidential and proprietary information uniess otherwise expressly stated which shall not be disciosed to any third party,
without the prior written consent of the Consultant. This provision shall survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement

The Sub-Consultant shall not use and shall keep its empioyee(s), ageni(s) andfor sub-contractor(s) from using the name of the Consu
its subsidiaries or affiliates or divulging information identified as confidertial in any sales or merketing publication or advertisement or any other
third party or entity without the prior wrilten consent of the Consultant,

Upon termination of this Agreement, and at the Consuitant's direction, the Sub-Consultant shall return or destroy all proprietary materiat of the
Consultant and/or Client and material ownad by the Ceonsultant and/or Client that is In the care, control or custody of the Sub-Consuftant.

14, GENERAL TERMS

Time. Time is of the essence. The Sub-Consuitant shall perform the Services expeditiously to meet the requirements of the Client and
Consutltant and shall complete ary portion or portions of the Senvices in such ordec as the Cansuftant may requice and the Consultant shall have

the right to take possession of and use any completed or partially completed portions of the Services notwithstanding any provisions expressed
of implied to the contrary.

Inspection. The Sub-Consuitant shall allow the Client, or persons authorized by the Client including the Consultant, the right, at all reasonatie

times. to inspect or otherwise review the Services performed, of being performed, under the Praject and the premises where they are being
performed.

Deiays. Neither party shall be liabie for delays in the performance of ita obligations hereunder due to causes bayond its reasonable control
including but not limited to Acts of God, strikes or inability to obtain labour or materials.

Assignment. Except as set forth in this Agreement, neither party may assign this Agreemeant without the prior conaent in writing of the cothes.
if the Sub-Consultant is an individual and desires to bring in a partner or partners, or if the Sub-Consultant is a partnership which desires to
bring in a new partner or pariners to share the benefits and obligations of this Agreement, hefshe or thay may de so by promptly notifying the
Consultant in writing of such intended action. if the Sub-Consultant is a partnership, and a pariner thereof dies or retires, then the remaining
parties therein shall form a new successcr partnership to shere the banefits and obligations of this Agreement.

Successors. Subjact to Section 14.4 hereof, this Agreement together with all Schedules or modifications, now or hereafter made a part hereof,
shall be binding on the respective parties and their respective heirs, lega! representatives, successors and permitted assigns.

Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and administered in accordanco with the laws of the location of the Consultant's Address
as hereinabove stated.

Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Schedules annexed herete constitute the entire agreement and understanding between the parties

and all other prior agreements, arrangements, representations, proposals, understandings, oral or written, are merged irto and suporseded by
the terms of this Agreement.

Schedules Prevail, 1 there is a conflict between this Agreement and the Schedules annexed hereto, the terms and conditions of the Schéomes
shall preveil. The terms and conditions of such Schadules shall apply mutatis mutandis to this Agreement.

invalid Provisions. No waiver of any breach of this Agresment shall constitute a waiver of any other breach of the same or other provisions of
this Agreement and no waiver shall be effective unless made in wiiting. [n the event that any provision herein shall be illegal of unenforceable,
such provision shall be severed and the entire Agreement shall not fail but the balance of the Agreement shall continue in full force and effect

Language. Both parties have required that this Agreement be prepared in English. Chacune des pasties a exiges qua cette convention soit
rediger en anglais.

Amendments. Unless otherwise expressly stated herein, no amendments of modifications of this Agreement or any provision of this Agreement
shall be effoctive unless in wtiting and signed by both parties.



14,12 Acknowledgement. The Sub-Consultant acknowledges that it has read this Agreement and agrees 1o be bound by its terms and conditions

and that if the Sub-Consuitant is a firm o corporation, reprasents and warrants that the signature hereinbelow appearing on behait of the Sub.-
Consuttant is duly authorized by the Sub-Consultant to execute this Agresment on behalf of the Sub-Consultant, and the Sub-Consultant

warrants and represertts that it has the tull authority, capacity and pawet to enter into this Agreement and, upon execution, this Agreement shall
become a binding obligation upon the Sub-Consuitant.

N WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have execuled this Agreement on the day and year above written,

SUB-CONSULTANT:
(Sean*
WIMTNESS** Signature
Name (please print}
Titie
CONSULTANT:
Signature

Name (please print)

Tile

*if Sub-Consultant is a corporation, affix corperate seal, if available.
**Witness not required if Sub-Consuftant is a corporation.



Appendix B; The Elements of a Joint Venture Agreement

A. Organization and Structure
of the Joint Venture

1. The scope of the joint venture and arrangements for
expansion

a) specifically identificd development projects,

b) general cooperation with funire identification of projects,
¢) The goals of each member should be specifically
ascertained.

2. Type of business organizuation to be selected as joint
venture vehicle.

B. Financing the Joint Venture.

i. Amount of initial capital required and how it will be
supplied, i.e. moncy or assets,

2. Means of financing additional working capital and
expcnses - bank borrowings, including guarunties and
mandatory or optional additional capitz} contibutions.

3. Consequences of défault in making additional mands-
tory contributions (“dilution™ provisions).

4, How proposals for expansion will be handled. Conse-
quences of failure 10 agree, consequéences of voluntary
contributions.

5. Sharing of profits and losses - based on ownership
share. capital contribution. stipulated percentage.

6. Sharing of liabilities - joint or several. Cost of defense
of ¢laims.

7. a) Appointment of accountants, cstablishment of
accounting procedurcs,

b) keeping of and access to books and records by parties,
¢) designation of fiscal year,
d) bank accounts.

8. Safaries, if any.

C. Management and Control of
the Joint Venture

1. Yoting rights.

2. Identity, method of selection. and powers and respoasi-
bilities of key memagerial personnel and their suciessors.

3. a) $ize and constitution of board of directors, maxage-
ment committee or its counterpart, as appropeiste

b) Method of decision-meking by board (unanimows.
majority or otherwise),

4. Methods of breaking deadiocks (arbitration. bayout or
auction. liquidation provisions).

5. Venture policy is determined ordinarily through board
of directors. managemnent committee. as appropriate.

6. Activities which may require formal action (pew
development programs, levels of production, annual
budgets, acquisition or surrender of property. claim set-
tlements, guarantees and other similar maters.

7. Transfer of owmership mterest (rights of first refusal,
exemptions with respect to affiliates, continuing obligs. -
tions and liabilities of affilixt=s. appwaical provisfons in
event of disagreement.

8. Precmptive rights.

D. Employees of the
Joint VYenture
1. Choice of employees.

2. Establishment of gcneral standards for operator (doe
diligence. workman like manner. reasonablepess,

good faith).
3. Compeusation of empioyee.
4. Consequence of breach.

5. Removal proceedings, right to terminate agrecment,
choice of successor,
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E. Marketing of Joint
Venture Product
. Responsibility for marketing decisions (management

committee or board of directors, unanimous vote of
members, or discretion of employee).

. Joint marketing. Note antitrust issues.
. Product supply agrecments.

. Development program - master plan and initial plan.

F. Restrictions on Activities of
Members of Joint Ventfure

. Competition within specified territory during and
subsequent to joint venture,

. General confidentiality provisions covering all infor-
mation received in connection with joint venture.

. “Area-of-interest™ provision: any property or interest
or other business opportunity acquired by any party
10 the joint veature or any affiliate thereof must be
offercd to the joint venture on the same terms and
conditions as it was acquired.

. “Competition™ clause: except with respect to joint
venture property or area of interest, parics are free to
compete as if the joint venture did not exist (limicg-
tion of fiduciary duty created by joint venture),

. Provision for reacqnisition by parties of surrendered

joint venture property: only parties not involved in
disposidon may reacquire for own account.

G. Default by Members of
Joint Venture
. Definition of defuults,
. Consequences of default (monctary penalties. forfei-
tures, waivers of certain rights. termination of joint
venturc and others). It is important to have different

peanalties for different defaults,

. Indemnification upon default.

H. Proprietary Rights

1. Any special armangements for supplying pateat rights
and know-how to the joint veoture by members.
Need for licensing agreements.

2. Provisions relating 10 use of trademarks, if any.

3. Provisions refating to disclosure of improvements.

I. Term and Termination of
Joint Venture

1. Specify commencement of term.  Should be sibject
to regulatory approvals obwained and other conditions
met.

2. Specify:
a) duration of term.
) method of tetmination or prior agreement 1 werminak,
¢) method of renewal.
d) penaltdes for wrongful withdrawal,

¢) consequences of tankrupicy. death of certin
parties and other events.

3. “Hardship Reopener™ the provision which allows foc
modification or tenmination of joint ventne in event
of financial hardship to member or operation of joint
venture on “non-economic™ basis.

4. a) Disposition of 2ssets upon terminedon, incloding

options to purchase assets. division of proceeds of
assets, and buy-out provisions.

b} Method of evatuation of terminating party’s inderest.

J. Miscellaneous Considerations
1. Governing law provision.

2. Force majeure provision.

3, Mcdifications and walvers of joint ventore agroetrenty.

4, Arbitration of disputes.



K. Documentation of the
Joint Yenture

The first step in negotiation of a joint venture generally
is the preparation of a brief outling of the basic terms of
the proposed venture. This outline, or memorandum of
understanding (MOU), is usually not intended as a bind-
ing document, but rather as an expression of mutual
intent with respect to the basic features of the transac-
tion from a business point of view. The outline pro-
vides the basis for the detailed negotiatlons and for the
drafting of the formal joint venture documents.

The specific arrangements conceming the establishment
and operation of the joint venture are normally set forth
in a joint venture agreement which covers all aspects of
the venture in detail. '

Additional documentation may nclode:

Q the organizational documents of the joint venture
vehicle,

patent, know-how. or trademark Lcense 1grocmentts,
techmical assistance agreements

leases.,

coustruction cotmacts.

and employroent artracts for key personnel.

QCOoooo



P
ARCHITECT INC.

SURVEY RELEASE

Date: September 20, 1994

Project:
Mississangz, ON
Project No.:9449

Dear Sirs:

Please accept this document as your authority to undertake the survey requirements checked off in the auached
form, for total lump sum compensation of One Thotisapd and Three Hundred Fifty Dollars and 00/100 (S 1,350.00).

As Aschitects, we have made arrangements for this survey 2s agents of the Clicut and as such, we are not 2 principat
2 the arrangement. Charpes are to be directed to the Client for payment with 2 copy to the endersigned for review
purposes only.

Client
MANAGEMENT SERVICES INC.

‘Loronto, Cotario MSX 1E3

Signafure:

Title:  Director of Constr. & Development

Sincerely,

Page 1 of 1
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COLLECTING YOUR ACCOUNTS

The best way to collect an account is to not have one. How ?

Get paid in full in advance.

Since we seem incapable or unwilling to effect this technique, take a few moments to list

a few collection techniques. Beside each, assign a risk rating on a scale of 1 to 10.

Collection Techniques Risk Rating




If you insist on doing business the hard way, what are the real costs of your bad debts?

Is there any reason why we can't agree right now that starting Monday all jobs will have

a risk rating of 1 ?

If a client refuses to use my services because | asked for payment in advance | believe
that client had no intention of ever paying me. If you write off a $1,000 account how
many jobs do you have to do just to break even. Divide $1,000 by the profit on a typical

$1,000 job. The result is the number of jobs you need to do.

1 find it is better to lose 1 or 2 jobs a year because | asked for money up-front then have

to do 10 to 20 more jobs just to recover my losses.



FORM 6

Paymcnt Bond

----------------

KNOQW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we

CONSTRUCTION (ONTARIO) INC.,
bercinafier called “the Principal”
- and -

COMPANY OF CANADA,
hercinaflter called "the Surety”

.arc jointly and scverally heid and firmly bound unto The Municipality of Mctropolitan Toronto and its succestors,
hereinafter called “the Obligee" 25 Trustes, cach in the sum of NINE HUNDRED AND SIXTY-THREE
THOUSAND, FOUR HUNDRED 00/100 DOLLARS ($963,400.00)
of lawful moncy of Canada, to be paid unto the Obligee, for which payment well dnd truly to bo made we the

Principal and Surety jointly and severafly bind oursclves, and our and cach of our respectivt heirs, cxecutors,
administrators, successors and assirns by these presents.

AND WHEREAS by an agreemeat in wriling bearing even date herewith, the Principal hot entered into a
contract with the Obligee, hereinafter called “the Contraet”, for the construction of

Sitc Improvements, Lakeshorc Boulevard West, Toronto, Ontario - .Contract No. as more

particularly set out therein, whick Contract is by reference herein made a part hereof as fully to all istents and
purposcs as though recited in full herein,

NOW THEREFORE THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH that if the Principal shall:

(a) at all Gmces make payment 10 all duimants for all labour, materials or services used of
reasonably required for usc in the performance of the Contract, or 45 (he same be changed,
altered or varied as hereinafter provided, to the satisfaction of the Obliges;

) at all times fully indemnify and keep indewmnificd the Obligee Irom and against olt and nay

manaer of loss, damage, expense, sults, actlons, clalms, licts, proceedings, demnnds, awards,

paymcnts, and liabilities arising out of or in any manger based upon or attributable to the
ciaims of such persons;

() promptly sec to the removal from the registercd title to the lands on which said coastruction

takes place, of all claims for licn by claimants as aforesaid and all certificales of action ia
connection therewith; and
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(D)

FORM 6
(continued)

fully scimburse and repay the Obfigee for all outlay, expense, liabilitics, or payments, incurred
or undcttaken to be made by tho Obligee attributable Lo the claims of such persons made
pursuant to the Contract or the Coustruction Lica Act, 1983,

then this obligation shall be void, but otherwisc it shall be and remain in full force and effect, subject, bowever,
ta the following conditions:

()

(i)

()

{iv}

)

(9

(vii)

_a Claimant for the purpose of this Bond shall be an iandividual, firm or corporation having a

dircet contract with the Principal for labour, services, material or agy combinatioa thereof used
or rcasonably required for usc in the performance of the Contract;

labour, material and scrvices shall be construed to include that part of wster, gas, power, light,
beat, oil, gasoline, telcphone scrvice ot rental equipracat direetly applicable to the Contract;

an individual, firm or corporation who reats cquipmecat to the Principal (o be used in the
performance of the Contract under a contract which provides that.all or any papt of the reat
is to be applicd towards the purchase price thercof, shall be a Claimant only 1o the extent of

the provailing industrial reatal value of such cquipment for the petiod during which the
cquipment was used in the performance of the Contract:

the prevailing industriai vajue of cquipment shall be determined, insofar 3s it is practicable (o
do 50, in accordance with and in the manncr provided for in the Iatest revised edition of the
publication of (be Canadian Construction Association (iticd "Reata]l Rates on Coatractors

Equipment” publishcd prior to the period during which the cquipment was used in the
performance of tbe Contracy;

the Obligee and the Principal shall have the right to change, alter and vary the tesms of the
Contract, and the Obligee may in its diserction at any time or times take and reccive from the

Principal any sccurity whatsocver and gramt any extension of time thercon or on aay Hability
of the Principal to the Obligec;

the Principal and the Sursty shall not be discharged or relcased {rom liability hercunder and
such [liability shall not be in any way affccted by any such changes, alterativas, or variations,
takiog or rcceiving of sccurity, ot cxiension of time, as aforesaid, ot by the exercise by the
Obligee of-any of the rights or powers reserved to it under the Contract or by its forbearancs
Lo exzrcise any such rights or powers, including (but without restricting the gencrality of the
{oregoing) any changes in (he extent ur nature of the works to be coastructed, alicred, repaired

or waintuined undsr the Contruct, or by any deoling, transaction, forbearance or fargivencss
which may take place betweea tbe Principal and the Obligee;

cvery Claimant who has not been paid as provided for under the terms of the Claimant's
contracl with the Principal, before the cxpiration of & pesiod of nincly (90) days aficr the date
ou which the last of such Claimant’s work ot labour was done or perforracd oc matcrists were
furnished Ly such Claimant, may as a beneficiary of the trust hercin provided {or, sue on this
Bond, prosceute the suil to final judgment for such sum or sums as may b justly duc to such
Claimant under the terms of his contract with the Principal and hawc exceution thercon, and



(viii)

()

FORM 6
{coutinucd)

the Obligee shall not be obliged to do or take any act, action or proceeding agaivst the Surety
on behalf of the Claimants, or any of them, to caforce the provisions of this Boad;

it shall bc a condition of the trust provided for in this Bond, that if any act, action oc
procecding is takea cither in the name of the Obligee or by joining the Obliges 18 a- party'to
such proceeding, then the Claimants, or any of them, who take such act, action or procecding
shall indemnify and save harmless the Obligeo against all costs, charges and expenscs oc
Liabilities incurrcd thercon and any loss or damage resulting to the Obligee by reasoa (heroof;

no suit or action shall be commenced hereunder by any Claimant:

(a)

(b)

(©)

unless such Claimant shall have given writtcn notice to each of the Principal, the Surcty
aad the Obligee, stating with substantial accuracy the amoust claimed,

(A)

(B)

in respect of any claim for the amount or any postion thercol, required to be
held back (rom the Claimant by the Principal, under cither the terms of the
Claimant's cootract with the Principal or under the Construction Liea Act,
1983, whichever is the greater, within one hundred and twenty (120) days after

such Claimant should have been paid in full under the Claimant’s conteact
with the Principal,

in respeet of asy claim other than for the boldback, or, portion thereol,
referred 1o above, within one hundred and twenty (120) days aftes the date
upon which suck Claimant did,.or performed, the last of the work or labour

or {urnished the last of the materials for which sych claint is made under the
Cluimant's contract with the Principal,

and sach rotice inay be served

©)

D)

by wailing the same by registercd mail in cach case to % address at which the

intcnded recipicot regularly maintains an office for the transactioa of busincss,
Ofr

in any manncr in which legal process may be served in Ontario;

after the expiration of voe (1) year following the date on which the Principal ceased

work on the Contract, includisg work performed under the guarantees provided in the
Contract;

other than in a Court of competent jurisdiction in the Provinco of Onﬁ\rio to the
jurisdiction of which Court the partics and Clainiants shall submit,

but subjcct to the forcgoing term and conditions, the Claimants, or- any of them, may use the
name of the Obligee (o suc on and enforce the provisions of this Bond;



FORM 6

(continued)

x) the amount of this Bond shall be reduced by, and to the exteat. of, any payments made in good
faitli, and in accordance with the provisions hereof, inclusive of the paymeuat by the Surcty of
Construction Licns which may be filed of record agaidst the subject matter of the Contract,
whether or not claim for the amount of such lica be prescated under and agaiagt this Boad;

(<)

the Surcty shall act be liable for a greater sum than the specified penalty of this Bond,

IN WITNESS WHEREOT the Principal and the Surety have signed and sealed this Bond this 265k day
of September, 1991,

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED

) CONSTRUCTION (ONTARIO) INC.

in the prescace of )
}
)
) /8
)
)
)
)
) ) _
) Principal
)
)
)
)
3
) COMPANY OF CANADA .
)
)
)
) C/s
)
)
)

Surety
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M Marshall Macklin Monaghan Ontario Limited &"ii?éhﬁ?c?n'l’.afim
{416} 890-5600
COntaric Land Surveyors

July 24, 1992 File No.

Mr. Ezio Savini .

Manager Development Section
“Transportation and Works Department.
City of Mississauga

300 City Centre Drive

Mississauga, Ontario -

L5SB 3Cl1
Dear Mr. Savini
Re: - Investments

City Assumption of 43M-

By this letter we advise that our account with Investments is still unpaid.

The balance outstanding including invoices and interest is $948.34. We request that the City of
Mississauga not release the developer's letter of credit until our account is satisfied.

For your information the final rcposting for assumption has not been performed.

Yours very truly

MARSHALL MACKLIN MONAGHAN ONTARIO LIMITED

Graham W. Bowden, O.L.S., P.Eng.
Vice President

GWB/sm

cc: Jan Hathway, MMM

LTEZIO
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€ 4 weapw Lalrit BOC TP OTRS ueparonent

City of Mississauga
300 City Centre Drive
Mississauga, Datacin
LS8 3C1

MISSESSAUGA
A

FAX: {416} B36-5583

File: M- co

Mr. Graham W. Bowden, O.L.S., P. Eng.
Marshall Macklin Monaghan Ontario Limited
409 Matheson Boulevard East

Mississauga, Ontario

L4Z 2H2

Dear Sir:

Re: Subdivision
R.P. 43M-

In response to your letter dated July 24, 1992, please be advised that the
subdivision in question will not be assumed, nor the securities released or

reduced until the City receives a statutory declaration of payment from the
developer.

He believe this is to your satisfaction, however, should you have further
concerns, please do not hesitate to contact the undersigned.

Sincerely,

/&E -_-;’"\. ‘Kﬁz_.";;_z-ﬁ-
A.K. Orzewiecki, P. Eng.
Development Area Supervisor
896-5830

AKD: d3
1047E

c: E. Savini

P. Marchiori
E. d'Ambrosio (with encl.)
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The Regional Municipality of ABC Date

Attention: Regional Chairmen
Town Engineer
Planning Director
Regional Municipality Clerk

Re: Letter of Credit in the Subdivision Process

Dear Sirs:

This letter is a formal request that the services of the Ontario Land Surveyor be included within
the letter of credit given to the municipality through a site plan bylaw or a subdivision agreement
under the Planning Act.

The Ontario Land Surveyor by legislation has the exclusive license to practice "Cadastral
Surveying" in Ontario. In the development of any property the Ontario Land Surveyor is quite
often the first professional on the ground to investigate the extent of title. Before a parcel of land
can be developed, it must be brought under the Land Titles Act or the Certification of Titles Act.
In some instances just as engineers and architects the Ontario Land Surveyor prepares the base
topographic information that forms the basis of the draft plan or sketches requiring planning
approval,

When the project has planning committee or council's approval to proceed, the Ontario Land
Surveyor begins to mark the limits of the new units on the ground. There are many components
that the Land Surveyor is involved with during the final approval process of the plan of
subdivision, condominium plans, and plans for land division and the provision of various zoning
and planning certificates to provide proof of conformance to area and zoning requirements.

As you can appreciate, this can add up to a substantial amount of fees. It is for these reasons
we are requesting that the Ontario Land Surveyor be included in the letter of credit similar to the
professional engineer.

We would be pleased to provide further information regarding our self governing organization,
such as, Mandatory Liability Insurance, Public Protection Fund, periodic Peer Competence

Review and many other aspects within our legislation that protect the public.

Yours truly,
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BORDEN WEARING
BARRISTERS AND SOLICITORS

J. Paul Wearing, BA, MP.A., LLB
Direct Line: (416) 351-1424

The law firm of Borden Wearing provides legal services to employers exclusively in
the area of labour relations and employment law.

Paul Wearing and Perry Borden provide proactive advice, strategic planning and
counsel on matters arising under the Labour Relations Act, the Human Rights Code,
the Employment Standards Act, the Occupational Health and Safety Act, the Pay
Equity Act and the Employment Equity Act to public sector and private sector
employers throughout the province of Ontario.

In additicn to appearing before the Ontario Labour Relations Board, Employment
Standards Referees, Boards of Inquiry convened under the Human Rights Code and
the Pay Equity Hearings Tribunal, the firm represents clients in the Courts in
connection with judicial review applications, wrongful dismissal litigation and
injunctions.

330 University Avenue, Suite 507, Toronto, Ontario, M5G 1R7
Telephone: (416) 351-1213 149
Fax (416) 351-1434



THE BUSINESS OF PROFESSIONAL SURVEYING
EMPLOYMENT LAW PRIMER

There are seven different provincial laws and regulations that can affect
how you manage your employees. The list includes:

The Labour Relations Act
The Pay Equity Act
The Employment Standards Act
The Occupational Health and Safety Act
The Human Rights Code
The Employment Equity Act
The Worker's Compensation Act.

It should come as no surprise to you to learn that the Government of
Ontario employs a veritable legion of staff to enforce compliance of these
statutes, the most notorious being the “Pay Equity Police” who enforce
the Pay Equity Act, the “Human Rights Police” who enforce the Human
Rights Code and the “Occupational Health and Safety Police”. Accusations
of breach of any of these statutes leads {0 investigation and prosecution
before an administrative tribuna! or, in the case of the Occupational
Health and Safety Act, the Courts. Penalties can run in the thousands of
dollars.

Significant Features of Labour/Employment Legislation for
Employers

Labour Relations A

Extensive amendments were made to this legislation through the passing
of Bill 40 by the Government effective January 1993. The changes to the
law make it more difficult for an employer to remain union-free. A
“purpose clause” was added expressly defining collective bargaining
rights and obligations in such a manner as to render non-compliance a
form of discrimination not unlike the prohibited conduct identified in the
Ontario Human Rights Code.

The scope of the Act and the right to organize was extended to a number of
professions including land surveyors. Petitions in opposition to an
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application for certification are nullified if the petition is filed after the
certification application date.

Automatic certification will result if the Labour Board is persuadad that
the true wishes of the employees are not likely to be ascertained through
the usual organizing campaign, Before the amendments, the Union was
required to prove it had membership support adequate for the purposes of
collective bargaining.

The rights of picketing employees are not to be interfered with to the
point that the these rights prevail over the common law and the Trespass
to Property Act. The jurisdiction of the courts to hear injunction
applications against picketing has been removed and the right to hire
replacement workers during a strike or lock-out has been prohibited.

Employment Standards Act

This is one of the oldest statutes regulating the employment relationship.
It provides for basic minimum terms and conditions of employment. The
topics of interest are minimum wage, overtime pay, hours of work, paid
holidays, vacation with pay, pregnancy leave/parentai leave, termination
of employment, severance pay and Sunday work. The Employment
Standards Branch of the Ministry of Labour administers this law.
Adjudication of alleged breaches of the Act is conducted by Employment
Standards Referees or Provincial Court Judges depending upon the
infraction.

Employers and employers’ accountants often  confuse liability for paying
termination pay with severance pay and vice versa. Termination pay is
paid to an employee in lieu of notice of termination in accordance with a
formula based on the employee’s number of years of service as set out
Section 57 of the Act. Liability for termination pay is not automatic.
There are certain exceptions:

Employees employed for a definite term or task;
employees temporarily laid off;
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- employees who are guilty of wilful misconduct or disobedience
or wilful neglect of duty that has not been condoned by their
employer;

- a contract of employment that is, or has become impossible of
performance or is frustrated by a fortuitous or unforeseeable
event or circumstance; or

- an employee employed in a business or occupation or
profession exempted by the Regulations.

Liability to pay severance pay will only arise if the employee being
dismissed has five (58) or more years of service and the employer's payroll
is $2.5 million or more a year. Severance is based on the employee’s
number of years of service, with a week payable for every year to a
maximum of twenty-six (26) weeks.

Pay Equity Act

This statute represents the first attempt by government anywhere in the
world to require public and private sector employers to take proactive
steps to investigate and remedy gender discrimination in compensation
practices. Employers with ten (10) or more employees must evaluate and
compare the work performed by predominantly female job classes to the
work performed by the predominantly male job classes in the same
establishment. The comparison must be accomplished through the use of a
gender neutral comparison system.

The criteria to be applied in determining the value of the work are the
skill, effort and responsibility normally required in the performance of
the work and the conditions under which it is normally performed. Pay
equity is achieved when the job rate for the female job class that is the
subject of the comparison is at least equal to the job rate for the male
job class in the same establishment where the work performed in the two
job classes is of equal or comparable value. The outcome of this exercise
is recorded as a pay equity plan.

Employers with between ten (10) and forty-nine (49) employees were
required to achieve pay equity by January 1, 1994,



Disputes are investigated by review officers from the Pay Equity Office
and adjudicated by the Pay Equity Hearings Tribunal. This Tribunal is a
quasi judicial body and its rulings have the force of law.

ional _Health an fety A

This law sets standards for workplace safety and imposes responsibility
for employee safety primarily on supervisors, owners as well as officers
and directors of the company and suppliers of machinery and equipment. A
worker has the duty to report to his or her supervisor any contravention of
the Act. The existence of defective equipment or protective devices, as
well as any hazard to worker health or safety.

An employee has the right to refuse to work if the employee believes that
to do so would result in injury. Each workplace must have a joint health
and safety commiitee, the members of the committee are required to
monitor the working conditions and if they think .it necessary make
recommendations to the owner for changes in procedures or safety
features of machinery and equipment.

Injuries to employees usually result in charges being laid under the
provisions of the Act and penalties for violation of the Act are

significant. A corporation convicted of an offence can receive a fine of up
to $500,000. Individuals may be charged, in addition to the corporate
employer, for failure to carry out their responsibilities as directors or
officers or supervisors. Conviction can lead to a fine of up to $25,000 or
a maximum of twelve (12) months imprisonment, or both.

The only defence available to an accused charged with a breach of this Act
is “due diligence”. More paricularly, the accused must establish that all
reasonable care was exercised in the circumstances to prevent the
commission of the offence. This means that employers must be proactive
in having preventive measures respecting health and safety in place.

Empioyment Equity Act

This legislation became law September 1, 1994 and continues the current
provincial government’s fixation with empowering employees to



participate in the management of businesses without regard for the
efficiency or productivity of the enterprise.

According to the Minister responsible, Elaine Ziemba, aboriginal people,
people with disabilities, members of racial minorities and women are
being denied access to job opportunities and promotion because of
outdated business practices and systemic barriers. As a result, it is
intended that the law will “guide” employers in the development of
recruitment, hiring and promotion practices to enhance the opportunities
for persons in these groups.

The Minister has stated that a key part of employment equity is the
partnership between workers and their employer to ensure that the
workplace is fair for all. Presumably this is why in unionized workplaces
a “partnership” with the union has been thrust on the employer with the
object of collecting workforce information, reviewing the employer's
employment policies and practices and preparing.an employment equity
plan. In union-free environments, the employer is required to inform and
educate employees about the principles of employment equity and
thereafter consult with them concerning the development,
implementation, review and revision of the employment equity plan. The
same approach was mandated in the Pay Equity Act with arguably
disastrous results.

The process leading to the creation of an employment equity plan is a
three step exercise requiring the collection of data, analysis of the data
collected and application of the results of the analysis to the creation of
an employment equity plan.

The CEO of a company must execute a certificate attesting to the fact
that he/she has done evetything required by the Employment Equity Act
and Regulations within six (6) months of the beginning of the plan and file
same with the Commission.

The Act creates offenses where confidential information collected from
employees for the purposes of an employment equity plan is disclosed
other than for the purposes of complying with the Act.



it is also an offence to attempt to hinder or interfere with an employee of
the Commission in the execution of a warrant or otherwise impede a
Commission representative in the course of an audit. Intimidation,
coercion or discrimination against any person because that person is
exercising or may exercise a right under the Act, or is participating or
may participate in a proceeding under the Act, or has made or may make a
disclosure required in a proceeding under the Act, or has acted or may act
in compliance with the Act, is also an offence.

Persons found guilty of an offence will be liable on conviction to a fine of
not more than $50,000.

The obligations of the Act will be phased in. Compliance will become
obligatory for employers following a period of time after the effective
date which is September 1, 1994. The limitation period for attaining
compliance will vary depending on the size and status (private
sector/public sector) of the employer.

For a private sector employer with one hundred (100) or more, but fewer
than five hundred (500) employees as of September 1, 1994, compliance
must be achieved no later than twenty-four (24) months after September
1, 1994, For private sector employers with fifty (50) or more , but fewer
than one hundred (100) employees on September 1, 1994, compliance must
be achieved no later than thirty-six (36) months after September 1, 1994.

The objectives of this legislation as disclosed in the preamble are clear,
however, the implementation of employment equity is complex.

Although the concept of “quotas” is not specifically stated in the Act, the
principles of employment equity as revealed in the legislation and the
Draft Regulations are open to interpretations that would result in
recruitment, employment, and promotion quotas of the designated groups.

The imposition of artificial timetables on employers to achieve
recruitment, retention and promotion of members of the designated groups
calls into question the employer's responsibility to select the best
qualified person for the job. Timetables do not take into account the



individual choice of persons in the designated groups not to seek
employment or if employed already, to remain in the work force at all.

The specifics of implementation and the standards to be achieved are to
be left to regulations drafted by Cabinet. Furthermore, the law
contemplates separate situations wherein Cabinet would be allowed the
prescribe situation specific regulations. Utilization of this broad power
could lead to inconsistent and uneven application of the law.

Human_Rights Code

The Code recites a number of prohibited grounds of discrimination that
influences the content of job application forms, job interviews and hiring
practices, as well as identifying special needs of disabled job applicants
and disabled employees. Harassment of employees in the work place by
other employees or supervisors is also addressed. in the law. The Ontario
Human Rights Commission administers the Code. Complaints are
investigated by Human Rights Officers. When settlement of complaints
cannot be achieved, a Board of Inquiry is appointed and the complaint is
adjudicated in a manner analogous to an arbitration hearing.

Employment Contracts

in addition to the above laws, there is the employment contract at
common law. The nature of the employment contract is often
misunderstood. Many employers mistakenly believe that an employment
contract must be in writing in order to be enforceable. This is not the
case.

An employment contract exists between you as the employer, and each of
your employees, even if you don't recite the terms and conditions in a
formal document drafted by a lawyer. The offer of employment sets the
basic terms and over time these terms evolve as the employee’s length of
service grows and his or her responsibilities and compensation are
increased. Dismissal of an employee without legal cause (business cause
doesn’t count) and without notice attracts liability for termination pay
and the value of any benefits enjoyed by the employee at the time of



dismissal. Courts assess the employers liability on the basis of what
“reasonable notice” of dismissal of the employee should be.

Five factors are evaluated:

- the employee’s age,

- length of service,

- position in the company,

- education , and

- the demand for the employee’s skill in the marketplace.

In order for the employee to be entitled to any compensation at all, he or
she must prove that they have searched diligently to find a job. Feeble
attempts at finding new work result in a significant discount of what the
court would otherwise award.
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HOW TO AVOID COSTLY MISTAKES
IN BUSINESS INSURANCE

Preface

The basic problem you face in buying insurance is deciding how to wisely use the limited
number of dollars allocated for insurance to purchase the best possible protection. Although the
field of insurance is complicated, developing a sound philosophy of insurance buying is not. We
sincerely hope our suggestions help you avoid costly mistakes in buying insurance for your
business.

The Most Common Mistakes

In general, costly mistakes in buying insurance fall into two categories: buying too little and
buying too much. The first is failure to purchase essential coverages which can leave your firm
exposed to an unbearable financial burden.

On the other hand, it is possible to purchase superfluous or redundant coverages, thereby
wasting valuable premium dollars. The difficulty in buying the right amount of insurance is -
compounded by the fact that it is possible make both mistakes at the same time. Many firms

ignore essential coverages, leaving gaping holes in their overall protection, while at the same
time including coverages against risks that should more appropriately be assumed. '

Insurance Buying Guidelines

1. When the possible severity of loss is great, assumption is not feasible, the risk should be
insured.

2. When the possible severity of loss is small, the risk should be assumed by your company.

3. When the likelihood of loss is high, risk reduction through loss control techniques is the most
appropriate way of dealing with the exposure.

4. The best buys in insurance are those where the probability of loss is low and the potential
severity is high.

5. The worst buys in insurance are those where the probability of (oss if high and the potential
severity is low.
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Evaluating Your Risks

This involves measuring the potential size of the possible loss and the ability of the firm to
withstand the loss if it does occur. [t involves ranking the risks in order of priority.

Any risk that involves a potential loss that could result in bankruptcy ranks in the first category.
It makes little difference if bankruptcy results from a liability loss or an uninsured fire loss.
Therefore, rather than ranking exposures in some order of importance such as 1, 2, 3, ... and
S0 on, it is more appropriate to rank them into general classifications such as CRITICAL,
IMPORTANT, and UNIMPORTANT.

CRITICAL: Those risks involving possible losses that could result in bankruptcy of the firm. It
is ESSENTIAL that these risks be covered.

IMPORTANT: Those risks involving possible losses that would not result in bankrupfcy, but
which would have serious impact on the financial results of the firm. It would be strongly
RECOMMENDED that these risks be covered to the degree affordable.

UNIMPORTANT: Those risks involving possible losses that would not have a serious impact on
the financial position of the firm, and which could be met out of existing assets and treated as
operating expenses. Coverage for these risks are AVAILABLE as options, and can be
purchased if desired and affordable.

But what about the situation in which the cost of even ESSENTIAL coverages is too great for
the firm's budget? Or the case in which you have purchased all of the ESSENTIAL coverages,
but cannot afford many of the RECOMMENDED coverages? When the available premium
dollars cannot provide the ESSENTIAL and RECOMMENDED coverages you want to carry, the
guestions becomes "where to cut".

One approach is to assume a part of the loss in connection with the ESSENTI/AL coverages.
You can do this by adding higher deductibles f{o these coverages, thereby freeing dollars for
other coverages that you desire. In many lines of insurance, full coverage is uneconomical
because of the high cost of losses. Through the wise use of deductibles, the premium credits
granted may permit you to purchase other RECOMMENDED coverages.



There are a number of coverages that should be considered when putting together an insurance
Program for a surveying office. Your broker is the best person to review your exposures, and
advise appropriate coverages.
The following list is comprised of some suggested coverages that you should discuss with your
broker. it is by no means comprehensive, it is simply a basis to begin your review.
* Commercial General Liability
*  Property Insurance - for fixed property, or property at
specified locations
- for mobile property
* Business Interruption Coverages
* Valuable Papers
* Electronic Data Processing
* Accounts Receivable
* Boiler & Machinery
* Tenants Legal Liability
* Directors & Officers Liability
*  Umbrella Liability
* Auto & Non-Owned Auto

* Crime Insurance - including Employee Dishonesty



RE-ENGINEERING & MANAGING CHANGE



CASE STUDY

set the scene: You, the OLS, were hired to layout a building.
The building has been laid out incorrectly.

The client has come to your office to discuss the

situation.
Cast: OWNER: Kevin OLS:
PARTY CHIEF: Graham CAD Operator: Brian

As we drop in on the meeting room, the conversation sounds like this:

OWNER: My site super says the building is too far from the road.

OLS (to the party chief): The owner has a problem. He says you
laid out the building wrong.

“ARTY CHIEF: I don't think so, 1 used the total station.

OLS: How could you screw up again? I've told you a hundred times
{0 check the layout by direct ties.

PARTY CHIEF: I did check it. If you had looked at my notes in the
file you would have seen that the checks were done.

OWNER: The building is at the old siting.
OLS: Old siting! Is there a new siting? No one told us!
OWNER: Hey! We did tell you. And the site super specifically asked

the party chief to0 make sure you had the latest drawings.

PARTY CHIEF: I told the super my layout was hot off the computer
this morning.

How was I to know there were changes?
I'm just a mushroom - kept in the dark and fed a lot of
bulishit.



OWNER: The architect sent you revised drawings 2 days ago.

CAD: Yeah, we got the drawings. But I thought they were just the full
set of plans we've been asking for ever since you sent a fax of
a portion of the site plan.
How was I to know there were changes?

OLS: Why didn't you tell me you had new drawings? 1 knew they
were coming.

CAD: I would have told you if you had been here. You were out
golfing.

OLS: I wasn't golfing, I was marketing, a little business development
SO to speak.

OWNER: Good idea since you are one client short.

CAD (to party chief):  Why didn't you ask if there were changes before
you went into the field?
PARTY CHIEF: What? Now I'm supposed to be a bloody mindreader!

OLS: This Kind of thing happens far too often. Like it or not there are
going to be some changes around here.

1. Identify the problems.
2. Propose solutions.
3. How will you implement the solutions?

Now it's your turn.
Form groups. Take this situation and answer the 3 questions.

-0oUu have 15 minufes to discuss the situation and prepare your answers.



The Case of Brad Brooks Surveying

During one of the slack periods for Brad, he picked up a computer
magazine and read about a new Operating System on the market that
could process information 30% faster than DOS and was easier to use

than Windows.

Brad took the time to visit the local computer store and got a thorough
demonstration of the new Operating System by the sales representative.
Brad was still unsure about the product so he went to the Computer
Exposition at the Metro Toronto Convention Centre. While he was at the
show, it seemed like everyone was talking about NOSE (New Operating

System Extraordinaire).

That was it. Brad went right back to his local computer store and bought

the system - including new accounting and drafting software which could
run on NOSE.

It was a little pricey but Brad felt it was worth it because jobs could be
done in half the time now. He could cut his price and beat his

competition.



Brad installed the system. He thought the bookkeeper, Nancy, would be
delighted to have state-of-the-art equipment. She wasn't!

She complained long and hard about having to learn the new system and
how it really wasn't as good as Brad and everyone made it out to be.
Nancy spent long hours trying to convert the data from the old system
to the new. To Brad, it seemed like she was complaining about more
than the new system now. Nancy bemoaned the way Brad wanted her to
set up the accounts; the fact that there were never any purchase order

numbers and on and on.

Brad felt that she would get over it. Besides, he was paying her for more

hours anyways, right?

Tony, the draftsman, wasn't any happier. It took him twice as long to
prepare a drawing instead of half the time. Brad had never heard Tony
swear until he installed the new system. One day, Brad got so fed up
with Tony's inability to use the new software that he literally picked up
Tony out of his chair, plunked himself down, and did the drawing
himself in 30 minutes - based on the knowledge he picked up from the

sales rep's demo.

When Brad finished, he wondered why his staff couldn't see why NOSE

was such a good idea and the way of the future?
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NOTES ON NOSE
WHAT WENT WRONG

. NOSE really was the way of the future and it soon became the industry standard. He
had the right idea but the system was implemented poorly.

. Brad did not consult with either the draftsman or the bookkeeper to get their input.
Both Nancy and Tony resented the fact that their working environment changed
without them having any say in the matter.

They did not know a change was coming and were not prepared for it when it took
place.

if Brad had spoken with them about the reason for the change and how difficult the
change might be, then the move to the new operating system would have been less
stressful for everyone concerned.

The change still would not have been easy but it would have been easier to manage.

. Tony and Nancy wondered what other decisions he was going to make without
consulting them. By cutting his price, would wage cuts be next?

. Whenever Tony encountered a difficult problem with the new drafting software again,
he always called on Brad to help. Brad discovered he was busier doing drafting work
and checking plans than anything else - and being less productive.

. Nancy and Tony received no training on the new software - either formal or on-the job.

. Brad felt that purchasing the new software would give him a competitive advantage
that would enable him to cut his price. Brad didn't realize that his competitors were
also purchasing the NOSE operating system. It was no competitive advantage at alll

. Even though Nancy was making more money by working the extra hours, she felt that
the extra stress was not worth it.
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Reengineering
defined

Change
Fundamental

change

Everyone
must
"re-engineer"

but don't
confuse
a fad

with

ACTION

RE-ENGINEERING

There has been a great deal of discussion over the past few
years about "Re-engineering Your Organization". What does
it mean?

in its simplest form, re-engineering involves changing
fundamental “"processes" that will give your organization a
stronger competitive advantage.

These "processes" may include changing the pattern of work
flow (ie: a job comes in and it goes from the OLS to the Party
Chief to the Instrumentperson back to the Party Chief to the
Calculator to the Draftsperson to the OLS who sends the
revisions back to either the Party Chief or the Draftsperson;
Is there room to change this work flow?)

It may also include a fundamental review of how you deal with
clients or procedures resulting from changes in new
technology or legislation.

Whatever process you decide to review, there are two key
elements to "re-engineering".

First, it involves change.
Second, the change is fundamental.
Eventually, we will all be forced to "re-engineer”. The trick is
to anticipate what changes need to be made instead of having
it thrust upon you.
"Re-engineering” is a buzzword that is often over-used in
business circles much like "Management by Walking Around",
"In Search of Excellence", "Thriving on Chaos", "The
Information Superhighway." Don't get caught in the trap of
foliowing the latest fads in management. Most business fads
essentially say the same things:

1. Be creative and innovative.

2. Listen to your employees at least as much as you
expect them to listen to you.

3. Relish change; don't resist it.

4. Strive to constantly improve.
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THE CHANGE EQUATION

AY. =TY. - ISU



Why
change?

The diffienlty
with change is...

THE ROLE OF CHANGE

Every organization needs change. You want to change its
profitability or growth rate or rate of return or prices or cost
structure or the like.

In order to make those types of changes, the organization
itself needs to change. It needs to hire more people, lay off
staff, introduce new equipment, train staff on new equipment,
change business practices, change survey processes.

Any moderately successful organization is constantly in the
midst of change. Stagnant organizations die.

The sure way to tell that your organization is stagnant, is to
have someone ask you or your staff, "Why do you do things
that way?" If the answer is, "Because we've always done
things that way," you are in big trouble.

The difference between a moderately successful organization
and a truly successful one is that moderately successful ones
have change thrust upon them {where they struggle along and
sometimes don't survive). The truly successful ones enjoy
change and actively seek out changes they can make.

The difficulty lies with convincing others {(or even yourself) that
change is necessary. After all, you're comfortable with
everything right now. You are making a decent living and the
work is steady. There is a natural human inclination to resist
change. But is this the calm before the storm?

You know change is necessary. You have decided to be a
change agent for your organization. How are you going to
implement successfully a change at your organization?

There have been many grand plans for changing an
organization. There have been many elaborate change
schemes. Most fail. Hence the equation:

AY.=TY. - ISU

The actual yield (effectiveness) of a change equals the
theoretical yield of a change less the implementational screw-
ups.
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Why change fails The most common reasons plans for change fail are:

1. An autocratic boss says, "You will change, or else"
but employees don't understand the reason or the
need for change.

2. You try to change too much all at once and
everything collapses around you.

3. You try to change things too quickly. Change
requirés cooperation and it takes time to earn their
cooperation.

4. There is no plan.



Steps for
effeetive
change

THE CHANGE PROCESS

Once you have committed yourself to being a change agent,
how do you go about effectively implementing change.

John Howard, Professor at the University of Western Ontario,
developed the following framework for instituting change.

1.

2.

Determine the desired state (after the change)

Determine the organization's readiness for
change.

Prepare the organization for change, establish
the need for change. (Unfreeze)

Make the change.

Stabilize the new behaviour. (Refreeze)



What do you
want to change?

DETERMINING

THE DESIRED STATE

If you don't know what you want to change, how will you know
when you've made the change, how will you know if you've
been successful, how will you be able to communicate your
ideas with others?

Where possible, make change measurable. For example, set
a goal of increasing productivity 10%.

Faddish business people call this "vision".

DETERMINE ORGANIZATION'S

Are they ready
for change?

Wheo will
support?

Wheo will resist?

Must have
change
stralegy

READINESS FOR CHANGE

In spite of the need for constant change (and improvement),
some times are better than others for trying to implement
changes.

For example, it is probably not a good idea to:

a) ask staff to fake wage cutbacks if you've just bought a new
Cadillac;

b) change to a new system in the middle of the busy season;
c) consult with staff if your banker is arriving in 15 minutes.

it is a always a good idea (in fact, necessary) to have a
strategy for instituting change. With any change, there will
always be some resistance. There will always be some
people who resist change stronger than others. It is the
change agent's job to determine who will resist (and who will
support) and how strongly they will resist (or support you).

The 'if‘ﬁportant point is that you must have a strategy fo
implement change successfully; it does not happen on its
own.

Without a successful change strategy, the intended change is
doomed to fail - regardless of the wisdom of the decision. Just
because it's a good idea, doesn't mean it will be easy to
implement.
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Sharing
information

Give people
choices

UNFREEZING
THE ORGANIZATION

Once you have decided on a strategy for implementing
change, you must prepare the organization for the change.

This often involves sharing important information with people.
The more information people have the less likely they are to
resist.

How do you share information? If things are going poorly, tell
people that. Share the misery.

If you want people to accept wage cutbacks, explain the
company's financial outlook. (If you only share the financial
prospects with staff when you need concessions from them,
they will resist strongly).

Give people choices. Ask for their input. You may still decide
to proceed with your change anyway but people are less
resistant if they have plenty of choice. Also, listen to what
they have to say. Imposing change will certainly breed
resistance.

People will see the worst possible scenario -{absolutely
paranoid) if they don't have information about the change.

Share with them how the change strategy fits in with the
organization's strategic plans.



Four
truths
about
change

Remain
positive

eelebrate
suceess!

MAKE THE CHANGE

Once the organization is ready to make the change, now is
the time to implement it.

There are some important things to know about making the
change.

a) it will be uncomfortable and awkward,;
b) things will get worse before they get better;

¢) people will accept the change at different rates of
speed;

d) if it is done right, it will be worthwhile.

Making a change of any significance is fraught with danger
and may often seem like it is bound to fail.

it is your job as a change agent to remain positive about the
change situation.

It is your job to take all necessary precautions to ensure that

the change is successful. That is, if possible, start with small
change experiments that are bound to be successful.

REFREEZING
THE ORGANIZATION

Once you have reached the desired state (as determined by
you in step 1), celebrate the success of the change.

Let everyone know how pleased you are that they have
successfully completed a traumatic experience: CHANGE.



Business is
about people

Three sets
of people

Clients/Agents

Staff

You

WORKING WITH PEOPLE

Whether we realize it or not, business is all about dealing with
people.

In surveying, we spend a great deal of our time looking at
relevant legislation and case law, equipment repair and new
products, and most basic of all: LAND.

However, surveying is also a business because we must deal
with people.

The business is a great deal easier to organize if we
concentrate on dealing with people more effectively.

Surveyors deal with three types of people.

First, there are clients and their agents. They are
homeowners and land developers and realtors and lawyers
and government agencies and the like. Without their support,
there would be no revenue.

Second, there is staff. For many surveyors, without the
support and cooperation of staff, completing any task would
be virtually impossible. Managing a business is difficult
enough; you need all the support you can get.

Third, there is you - the businessperson. You must take care
of yourself. Being a business leader requires a great deal of
time and sacrifice. Make an effort to alleviate the stress and
rejuvenate yourself. Take the time to think of new ideas and
innovations.



Being in business
is STRESSFUL

Deal with the
siress

What are your
dreams?

Lead by example

MANAGING ONESELF

Managing a business requires a great deal of time, effort and
sacrifice. You will be expected to work long hours, deal with
incredible pressure, and face conflicting demands (from
clients, staff, family, bankers).

Not only are you expected to be a good surveyor but you are
also expected to be a good businessperson.

It is a stressful position.
Deal with the stress. Do not ignore it.

There are fantastic stories of people who have become so
distressed that one took a shotgun to a Coke machine that
wouldn't dispense the pop after gobbling up the coin and
another who fought with a waiter at a greasy spoon because
they wanted to charge him a dime for two pats of butter on
his toast.

They let the stress get to them.

The best ways to deal with stress are through physical activity
and/or a hobby which is fun for you to participate in.

For better or worse, alcohol and tobacco are rotten ways to
relieve stress. Not only are they ineffective they will also do
more damage than anything else. Alcohol is a depressant and
an ineffective reliever of stress.

Take time every now and then to rejuvenate yourself. Get
away from it all. You might be surprised how much more you
can accomplish once you've "escaped" your office.

Even though your purpose in getting away is to stop thinking
about the business, you may find yourself dreaming about it
every now and then - and develop a very innovative, creative,
idea. (Your holiday just might have paid for itself.)

When you're back at work, set an example of the type of
business leader you want to be. Write down each day what
your goals and objectives and dreams are for that day.

First and foremost, lead by example.



Manage your boss
as much as yon
manage the
people "below"
you

Develop a good
rapport

Criticize
consiructively

What are your
boss' dreams?

Be a problem
solver

MANAGING UP

Whether you work for someone else or hold your own
Certificate of Authorization, you have people to whom you
must report.

For people who work for someone else, you must learn to
manage your boss. That is, you do not attempt to control your
boss but you must know how to accomplish things that you
need accomplished by working with your boss.

There are a number of ways of "managing up".

Let's say you want something changed at your office. You
develop a change strategy (as noted earlier) but you wonder
how you are ever going to convince your boss that it is a
good idea.

First, it helps to have a good rapport with your boss. Speak
to him or her on a regular basis about is going right or wrong
within your organization (but don't pester your boss with
Mickey Mouse stories that no one except you cares about).

Second, it helps if you can show the financial benefit of your
proposal. If you can show your boss how purchasing a
particular product or service will save the organization money
in the long run, you have a better chance of succeeding.

Third, don't be afraid to criticize constructively. Good bosses
will admit they do not have all the answers and will ask their
staff for advice. The last thing a boss wants to hear is "yes,
yes, yes" all the time. Just remember to criticize
constructively.

Fourth, find out what your boss' agenda is. If your boss wants
to retire, then he or she will behave differently and expect
different things than if he or she is 30 years old and wanting
to expand the organization.

Fifth, be seen as a problem solver; not a problem creator.
Your boss will love you if you can alleviate the headache of
management.



It's not easy to manage up. It requires walking a very thin
political line. However, you will not get much respect from
anyone else if you constantly complain about your boss (what
a rotten boss he/she is, how they're driving the company into
the ground, how you are being mistreated) if you don't at least
speak to your boss and attempt to manage up.



Even an owner
has a elient to
report to

Manage your
clients

Six principles
of enstomer
service

Custiomer
satisfaetion

AS AN OWNER

As an owner of a survey practice, there is the tendency to
think that you have no one to report to since you are the
boss. But...

the people who keep you're company alive
(paying clients) are your boss. So how do you
manage them?

A client has tremendous power. They make the decision
whether to patronize you or not. You want to manage and
work with them to ensure they are your clients and not
someone else's.

The principles of managing up are the same with clients as
they are with traditional bosses.

First, speak with youir clients at regular intervals as much as
possible.

Second, show the client how you can save them money (by
purchasing all their survey needs from you).

Third, understand what your client requires from you and
question them to make sure that is what they really want.

Fourth, be a problem solver. Your client needs a survey for a
reason. Make sure you satisfy their underlying concern (ie:
mortgage approval}.

Fifth, understand that your client doesn't understand (and
likely doesn't care) about the intricacies of surveying. Speak
to your client in clear, simple English; not survey-speak.

Sixth, make sure your clients understand what they are
getting. Did they purchase a piece of paper with some lines
and measurements on it? Or did they purchase the
satisfaction of knowing there are no encroachments on their
property? Or did they purchase a guaranfee that the bank
would grant the mortgage?

When managing up with clients, customer satisfaction is the
key phrase.
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Managers expect
staff to be
replicas of
themselves

Employees must
have stake in the
firm

Get employees
to aet like
owners

MANAGING DOWN

Managing down, or managing your staff, is one of the most
important aspects of being a business leader yet it is
consistently the one area where managers fail.

As managers, we expect our subordinates to behave and
think the same way we do (even though our education,
backgrounds, day-to-day pressures are different) even though
we have more information at our disposal than our employees
do. So what happens when employees behave differently?
Managers drive them harder. Blame them for everything that
goes wrong.

There have been numerous books and articles that explain
what to do and how to manage those people that work for
you. | am sure you have heard management experts talk
about Teamwork and teambuilding and self-directed work
groups (especially where Japanese-built automobiles are
concerned).

They all stress the importance of making your employees feel
like they have a stake in the company and its success.

Consider the opening paragraph from John Case's article
"The Open-Book Managers" (INC., September 1980).

"Many CEOs are adopting a management style based on one
simple, radical idea: if you want your employees to act like
owners, you've got to give them all the information any owner
gets."

Perhaps it is fear or time pressure or insecurity that prevents
employers from adopting this simple idea.

The best explanation | have read on managing people comes
from Robert Townsend, former CEQO of Avis Car Rental, in his
1984 book "Further Up The Organization" (published by
Knopf).
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Today's firms
based on Caesar's
legions

Poor
assumpiions

"Bad" workers
look like
geniuses

Get to know
your people

Participative
eompany
attributes

Requires patience
and

understanding

"...We're in this mess because for the last two hundred years
we've been using the Catholic Church and Caesar's legions
as our patterns for creating organizations....

From the behaviour of people in these early industrial
organizations we arrived at the following assumptions:

1. People hate work.

2. They have to be driven and threatened with punishment to
get them to work toward organizational objectives.

3. They like security, aren't ambitious, want to be told what to
do, dislike responsibility."

"...When | became head of Avis, | was assured that no one at
headquarters was any good, and that my first job was to start
recruiting a whole new team. Three years later, Hal Geneen,
the president of ITT (which had just acquired Avis), after
meeting everybody and listening to them in action for a day,
said, "I've never seen such depth of management; why, i've
already spotted three chief executive officers!" You guessed
it. Same people...."

"Get to know your people. What they do well, what they enjoy
doing, what their weaknesses and strengths are, and what
they want and need to get from their job. And then try to
create an organization around your people, not jam your
peopleintothose organization-charirectangles. Organizations
work when they maximize the chance that each one, working
with others, will get for growth in his job. You can't motivate
people. That door is locked from the inside. You can create
a climate in which most of your people will motivate
themselves to help the company reach its objectives. Like it
or not, the only practical act is to adopt participative
management assumptions and get going."

"It isn't easy but what you're really trying to do is come
between a man and his family. You want him to enjoy his
work so much he comes in on Saturday instead of playing
golf or cutting grass."
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How do you know if you are really have participative
management? Robert Townsend lists these as clues to truly
enlightened companies.

1. COMMUNICATION - Visible leaders listening to workers.
Informal atmosphere.

2. Few MEETINGS

3. No POLICY MANUALS

4. PROFIT SHARING for everyone
5. SALARY for everyone

6. No SECRETS. Salary information available to anyone and
financial reports discussed throughout the company.

7. No TIME CLOCKS

8. People get more pay for LEARNING other jobs and skills
after they've mastered their own.

Establishing this type of atmosphere requires patience and
understanding. Like any change, it is going to be awkward for
everyone at the beginning but will prove worthwhile.

People are not products or machines. They are more like
plants and crops. They must be nurtured and watered every
now and then. And only then will they grow beyond what you
ever expected. It is a radical idea. It requires a radical new
approach to dealing with people.



SUMMARY

. Re-engineering an organization involves changing the way a business
operation/process is down in a fundamental manner.

. Change is uncomfortable for everyone. The first reaction for anyone is to resist the
change.

. You must have a change strategy. Follow the five steps for implementing change.
. Most change plans fail because of good ideas poorly implemented.

. MO - Manage Oneself - take time to recharge your batteries; deal with the inherent
stress of being a manager.

. MU - Manage Up - Remember that we all report to someone. We must work WITH
these people in order {o get our ideas approved and implemented.

. MD - Manage Down - If we agree no one is an island, then we require the support
of many people in order to reach a common goal. Strive to be a participative
manager. Employees want to do a good job of which they can be proud.



SMALL TIPS
FOR BIG IMPROVEMENTS

For many of us, our opinion of a company is based on small circumstances that will
either excite us or annoy us.

How many of us have walked out of a retail store because of a shobby clerk? How
many of us have bought a product because we got along well with the salesperson?
How many of us have thrown our hands up in frustration after being told "that's not
my department"?

Sometimes, it is the little things that count, such as:

1. Always return phone calls. Always.

2. Never send a fax or a letter if you can speak to the person face-to-face.
If you have to send a fax/letter, let them know that it is being sent.
3. If you use an answering machine, purchase a good quality one. If a real person

answers the phone, make sure they speak slowly, clearly and sound so cheerful
because an important person just called.

4. All correspondence must be grammatically correct and without spelling errors. You
don't allow plans to go out with errors, so why do you let business
correspondence.
Many people don't care about (or are not aware of) poor grammar these days. For
those that do care, they believe that poor spelling and grammar will say volumes
about the type of organization they are.
So why not take the time to prepare proper business correspondence.

5. Many times before, the importance of neat dress and proper deportiment of

surveyors and their staffs have been stressed. It is just as important today.

The same can be said for the survey office itself.
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QUALITY CONTROL/QUALITY ASSURANCE



QUALITY CONTROL -
QUALITY ASSURANCE

Everyone uses the phrase QC/QA - Quality Control/Quality Assurance. Each phrase
has a unique but complimentary meaning. As surveyors we cringe when we hear
people misuse the words precise and accurate. People in the TQM business shudder
when they hear surveyors interchange QC and QA. Perhaps it is best explained by

an example.
Carl, our Executive Director, exercises quality control by checking the performance of
key committees and Council. Audrey Maxwell (Office Co-ordinator) exercises quality

assurance by making sure Carl does all his jobs.

What is your definition of quality ?

Who should define what is a quality survey ?




What is a quality survey ? How is it determined?

Four steps to a quality survey.

How do we make quality happen ?

What Q.C.Q.A. is not. It is not;




What techniques can we employ to effect a quality focus in ourselves and our staff?

Your Corporate Focus



Flow chart the key functions of a typical survey project.



The surveyor's favourite form of QC is the checklist. Checklist the equipment, checklist

the vehicle maintenance, checklist the fieldwork and on and on.

The surveyors weak link is Quality Assurance; checking the checking was done.

Now re-draw the key functions of a typical survey project but with 2 Q C Q A focus,



MANAGING YOUR PROJECTS



MANAGING YOUR PROJECTS

Now that Brad has marketed his services, he has
.... won the RFP

.... established a quality program

How is he going to manage the project ? What should he do first ?

The survey is just part of the overall project. What eise must be considered?

| have watched engineers being trained at my office. First, they are taught
how to report what they will do
how to get authorization in writing for what they will do
confirm the person giving the authorization has the authority
list the exclusions to the contract; the extras
report frequently every conversation or field modification
quickly invoice the client

don't give out any drawings until you are paid.

[ tried it. | sleep better.
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In order for Brad to organize and control all these events, he needs to design and

implement a Project Management Plan.

One of the simplest communication tools is the Trip Memo.

All too often on a project we are the last priority. We need to assert ourselves into
Project Management. it does not say in the Engineers Act "thou shall't be lord of all
thy see." It doesn't say the engineer is God. They think they are God. And
sometimes the owner will hire them to act like God. But remember they went to
University for four (4) years just like you but their articles consisted of only two (2)

years of work, no reports and a take-home mail-order examination.



There is no reason why the Surveyor cannot be the Project Manager. | have had the
opportunity on only a few projects to be Project Manager but | can tell you it is
exciting and challenging. You may have heard the saying that "A consultant team is

like a team of sled dogs working together.

Picture that. But unless you are the lead dog the view is limited.”



